
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 

October 17, 2024 
6:30 PM 

Governor Charley E. Johns Conference Center 
1610 North Temple Avenue 

Starke, Florida 32091 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. Chair to call meeting to order. 
 

2. Presentation by Representative Chuck Brannan of a state appropriation funding for a Fire 
Truck for Bradford County. 

 
3. Public Hearing – Zoning 

 
A. Consider approval of Z 24-07 (Keystone Heights RV Resort LLC) – Zoning 

Change for Bradford County Parcel Number 05410-0-00000 from 
AGRICULTURAL (A-2) TO RESIDENTIAL, MOBILE HOME PARK 
(RMH-P). 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING ATLAS; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF TEN OR 
MORE CONTIGUOUS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION Z 
24-07; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM 
AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) TO RESIDENTIAL, MOBILE HOME-PARK 
(RMH-P); PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

B. Consider approval of Z 24-08 (Lizeth Hernandez) – Zoning Change for Bradford 
County Parcel Number 01727-0-00007 from RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) TO 
COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI). 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING ATLAS; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF LESS 
THAN TEN CONTIGUOUS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO 
APPLICATION Z 24-08; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE ZONING 
DISTRICT FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) TO COMMERCIAL, 
INTENSIVE (CI); PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

C. Consider approval of Z 24-09 (Hassane Boubacar) – Zoning Change for Bradford 
County Parcel Number 01965-0-00100 from AGRICULTURAL-2 (AG-2) TO 
COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI). 
 

ACTION 

Presentation 



AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING ATLAS; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF LESS 
THAN CONTIGUOUS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION Z 
24-09; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM 
AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) TO COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE (CI); 
PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

D. Consider approval of S240820A (Keystone Heights RV Resort LLC) – Land Use 
Change for Bradford County Parcel Number 05410-0-00000 from 
AGRICULTURAL TO RESIDENTIAL. 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RELATING 
TO AN AMENDMENT OF 50 OR LESS ACRES, PURSUANT TO 
APPLICATION S240820A; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE LAND USE 
CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (UP TO 1 DWELLING UNIT 
PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) TO 
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM (UP TO 8 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE); 
PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

E. Consider approval of S240828A (Lizeth Hernandez) – Land Use Change for 
Bradford County Parcel Number 01727-0-00007 from RESIDENTIAL TO 
COMMERCIAL. 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RELATING 
TO AN AMENDMENT OF 50 OR LESS ACRES, PURSUANT TO 
APPLICATION S240828A; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE LAND USE 
CLASSIFICATION FROM RESIDENTIAL, LOW DENSITY (UP TO 2 
DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE) TO COMMERCIAL; PROVIDING 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

F. Consider approval of S240913A (Hassane Boubacar) – Land Use Change for 
Bradford County Parcel Number 01965-0-00100 from AGRICULTURAL TO 
COMMERCIAL. 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RELATING 
TO AN AMENDMENT OF 50 OR LESS ACRES, PURSUANT TO 
APPLICATION S240913A; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE LAND USE 
CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (UP TO 1 DWELLING UNIT 
PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) TO 



COMMERCIAL; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

 
4. Public Comments 

 
 Three (3) minutes per speaker; 
 Comments will not be accepted after the meeting begins; 
 State your name and address into the record before addressing the board; 
 Address your questions to the board, not county staff; 
 Refrain from demands for an immediate board response; and 
 No boisterous behavior, personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks. 

 
5. Approval of Consent Agenda 

 
A. 09-03-24 Budget Hearing Minutes – Adoption of Tentative Millage Rate and 

Budget 
B. 09-03-24 Regular Meeting Minutes 
C. 09-10-24 Budget Workshop Minutes 
D. 09-17-24 Budget Hearing Minutes – Adoption of Final Millage Rate and Budget 
E. 09-17-24 Regular Meeting Minutes 
F. Termination of Contract with HCA for Interfacility Transfers (90 Day Notice) 
G. Approval of BCFR Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity 
H. State Aid to Libraries Grant Application 
I. Certification of Hours for State Aid Grant Application 
J. Local State of Emergency Proclamation for Hurricane Helene – September 24, 

2024 – October 1, 2024. 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A 
LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

K. Local State of Emergency Extension Proclamation for Hurricane Helene – 
October 1, 2024 – October 7, 2024. 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION 
EXTENDING A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

L. Local State of Emergency Second Extension Proclamation for Hurricane Helene – 
October 7, 2024 – October 14, 2024. 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION 
EXTENDING A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

M. Local State of Emergency Proclamation for Hurricane Milton – October 7, 2024 – 
October 14, 2024. 

ACTION 



A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A 
LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

N. Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Survey agreement with PCG 
($20,000) 

O. Retroactive Amendment to RFQ 2024-001 extending the deadline for submission 
from October 10, 2024, to October 17, 2024, due to BOCC office closure on 
October 10th due to Hurricane Milton. 

P. Insight Public Sector Invoice for 100 Licenses for Smartcop ($11,574) 
  

6. Bradford Soil and Water Conservation District Presentation – Report and Strategic 
Planning 
 

7. Clerk Reports – Denny Thompson, Clerk to the Board and Clerk of the Circuit Court 
 

8. Sheriff Reports – Gordon Smith, Sheriff 
 

9. County Manager Reports – County Manager, Scott Kornegay 
 

A. Discussion of Draft 2025 Holiday Schedule 
B. Discussion of Board Meeting Dates for Calendar Year 2025 

 
10. County Attorney Reports – Richard Komando 

 
11. Commissioner’s Comments 

 
12. Chair’s Comments 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTICE: 
Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, notice is hereby provided that, if a person decides 
to appeal any decision made by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 
Florida with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, he or she will need a 
record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence 
upon which the appeal is to be based. 

Discussion 



























 
Page 1 of 2 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING ATLAS; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF TEN OR MORE CONTIGUOUS 
ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION Z 24-07; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING 
THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) TO RESIDENTIAL, MOBILE 
HOME-PARK (RMH-P); PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
WHEREAS, Section 125.01, Florida Statutes, as amended, empowers the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Board of County 
Commissioners, to prepare, adopt and enforce land development regulations; 

WHEREAS, Sections 163.3161 to 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Community 
Planning Act, requires the Board of County Commissioners to prepare and adopt regulations concerning 
the use of land and water to implement the Comprehensive Plan; 

WHEREAS, an application for an amendment, as described below, has been filed with the County; 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Planning and 

Zoning Board of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Planning and Zoning Board; 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Local Planning 

Agency of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Local Planning Agency; 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Section 163.3174, Florida Statutes, as amended, and the Land 

Development Regulations, as amended, the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and 
Zoning Board, and Local Planning Agency, held the required public hearing, with public notice having 
been provided, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the 
Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning 
Agency, reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below, and 
recommended to the Board of County Commissioners approval of said application for an amendment, as 
described below;  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Board of County 
Commissioners held the required public hearing, with public notice having been provided, on said 
application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the Board of County 
Commissioners reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing, including the 
recommendation of the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and 
the Local Planning Agency, and the Concurrency Management Assessment concerning said application 
for an amendment, as described below; and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found that approval of said 
application for an amendment, as described below, would promote the public health, safety, morals, order, 
comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity or general welfare. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
Section 1.  Pursuant to an application, Z 24-07, by Keystone Heights RV Resort, LLC, to amend the 
Official Zoning Atlas of the Land Development Regulations by changing the zoning district on certain 
lands, the zoning district is hereby changed from AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) to RESIDENTIAL, 
MOBILE HOME-PARK (RMH-P) on property described, as follows: 



Page 2 of 2 

A parcel of land lying in Section 11, Township 8 South, Range 22 East, Bradford County, Florida.  
Being more particularly described as follows: Commence at the Southwest corner of said Section 11; 
thence North 00°34'50" West 2,696.34 feet, along the Westerly boundary of said Section 11; thence 
North 88°09'52" East 357.33 feet to the Point of Beginning; thence continue North 88°09'52" East 
1,494.61 feet; thence South 00°00'00" East 427.02 feet; thence South 66°08'22" West 650.69 feet; 
thence South 71°16'28" West 858.95 feet; thence North 05°18'25" West 922.06 feet to the Point of 
Beginning. 

Containing 23.27 acres, more or less. 
Section 2.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this ordinance is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 3.  Conflict.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, a certified copy of 
this ordinance shall be filed with the Florida Department of State by the Clerk of the Board of County 
Commissioners within ten (10) days after enactment by the Board of County Commissioners.  This 
ordinance shall become effective upon filing of the ordinance with the Florida Department of State. 
The effective date of this amendment, Z 24-07, to the Official Zoning Atlas shall be the same date as the 
effective date of Future Land Use Plan Map Amendment, S240820A.  If Future Land Use Plan Map 
Amendment, S240820A, does not become effective, this amendment, Z 24-07, to the Official Zoning 
Atlas shall not become effective.  No development orders, development permits or land uses dependent 
on this amendment, Z 24-07, to the Official Zoning Atlas may be issued or commence before it has 
become effective. 

Section 5.  Authority.  This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Section 125.01, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, and Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended. 

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED, in regular session with a quorum present and voting, by the 
Board of County Commissioners this 17th day of October 2024. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
Attest: OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Denny Thompson, County Clerk Carolyn B. Spooner, Chair 















 
Page 1 of 2 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING ATLAS; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF LESS THAN TEN CONTIGUOUS 
ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION Z 24-08; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING 
THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) TO COMMERCIAL, 
INTENSIVE (CI); PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
WHEREAS, Section 125.01, Florida Statutes, as amended, empowers the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Board of County 
Commissioners, to prepare, adopt and enforce land development regulations; 

WHEREAS, Sections 163.3161 to 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Community 
Planning Act, requires the Board of County Commissioners to prepare and adopt regulations concerning 
the use of land and water to implement the Comprehensive Plan; 

WHEREAS, an application for an amendment, as described below, has been filed with the County; 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Planning and 

Zoning Board of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Planning and Zoning Board; 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Local Planning 

Agency of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Local Planning Agency; 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Section 163.3174, Florida Statutes, as amended, and the Land 

Development Regulations, as amended, the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and 
Zoning Board, and Local Planning Agency, held the required public hearing, with public notice having 
been provided, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the 
Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning 
Agency, reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below, and 
recommended to the Board of County Commissioners approval of said application for an amendment, as 
described below;  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Board of County 
Commissioners held the required public hearing, with public notice having been provided, on said 
application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the Board of County 
Commissioners reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing, including the 
recommendation of the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and 
the Local Planning Agency, and the Concurrency Management Assessment concerning said application 
for an amendment, as described below; and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found that approval of said 
application for an amendment, as described below, would promote the public health, safety, morals, order, 
comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity or general welfare. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
Section 1.  Pursuant to an application, Z 24-08, by Lizeth Hernandez, to amend the Official Zoning Atlas 
of the Land Development Regulations by changing the zoning district on certain lands, the zoning district 
is hereby changed from RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) to COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE (CI) on 
property described, as follows: 



Page 2 of 2 

A parcel of land lying in Section 26, Township 5 South, Range 22 East, Bradford County, Florida.  
Being more particularly described as follows:  Commence at the intersection of the Southerly boundary 
of the North 1/2 of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Southwest 1/4 of said Section 26 with the 
Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad; thence North 16°33'25'' East 344.78 feet, along 
Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad to the Northerly boundary of the North 1/2 of the 
Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Southwest 1/4 of said Section 26 for the Point of Beginning; 
thence North 60°51'47'' West 352.89 feet to the Easterly right-of-way line of U.S. Highway 301(State 
Road 200); thence North 31°08'40'' East 100.00 feet, along the Easterly right-of-way line of said U.S. 
Highway 301 (State Road 200) to the beginning of a curve concave to the Northwest and having a 
radius of 11,514.16 feet; thence Northeasterly, along said Easterly boundary and along the arc of said 
curve, 526.72 feet as measured along a chord having a bearing of North 29°48'53'' East; thence South 
63°07'18'' East 201.70 feet to the Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad; thence South 
16°33'25'' West 650.18 feet, along the Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad to the Point of 
Beginning. 

Containing 4.02 acres, more or less. 
Section 2.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this ordinance is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 3.  Conflict.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, a certified copy of 
this ordinance shall be filed with the Florida Department of State by the Clerk of the Board of County 
Commissioners within ten (10) days after enactment by the Board of County Commissioners.  This 
ordinance shall become effective upon filing of the ordinance with the Florida Department of State. 
The effective date of this amendment, Z 24-08, to the Official Zoning Atlas shall be the same date as the 
effective date of Future Land Use Plan Map Amendment, S240828A.  If Future Land Use Plan Map 
Amendment, S240828A, does not become effective, this amendment, Z 24-08, to the Official Zoning 
Atlas shall not become effective.  No development orders, development permits or land uses dependent 
on this amendment, Z 24-08, to the Official Zoning Atlas may be issued or commence before it has 
become effective. 

Section 5.  Authority.  This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Section 125.01, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, and Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended. 

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED, in regular session with a quorum present and voting, by the 
Board of County Commissioners this 17th day of October 2024. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
Attest: OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Denny Thompson, County Clerk Carolyn B. Spooner, Chair 

















 
Page 1 of 2 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING ATLAS; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF LESS THAN CONTIGUOUS 
ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION Z 24-09; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING 
THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) TO COMMERCIAL, 
INTENSIVE (CI); PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
WHEREAS, Section 125.01, Florida Statutes, as amended, empowers the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Board of County 
Commissioners, to prepare, adopt and enforce land development regulations; 

WHEREAS, Sections 163.3161 to 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Community 
Planning Act, requires the Board of County Commissioners to prepare and adopt regulations concerning 
the use of land and water to implement the Comprehensive Plan; 

WHEREAS, an application for an amendment, as described below, has been filed with the County; 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Planning and 

Zoning Board of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Planning and Zoning Board; 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Local Planning 

Agency of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Local Planning Agency; 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Section 163.3174, Florida Statutes, as amended, and the Land 

Development Regulations, as amended, the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and 
Zoning Board, and Local Planning Agency, held the required public hearing, with public notice having 
been provided, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the 
Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning 
Agency, reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below, and 
recommended to the Board of County Commissioners approval of said application for an amendment, as 
described below;  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Board of County 
Commissioners held the required public hearing, with public notice having been provided, on said 
application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the Board of County 
Commissioners reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing, including the 
recommendation of the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and 
the Local Planning Agency, and the Concurrency Management Assessment concerning said application 
for an amendment, as described below; and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found that approval of said 
application for an amendment, as described below, would promote the public health, safety, morals, order, 
comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity or general welfare. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
Section 1.  Pursuant to an application, Z 24-09, by Hassane Boubacar, to amend the Official Zoning Atlas 
of the Land Development Regulations by changing the zoning district on certain lands, the zoning district 
is hereby changed from AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) to COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE (CI) on property 
described, as follows: 



 
Page 2 of 2 

A parcel of land lying in Section 3, Township 6 South, Range 22 East, Bradford County, Florida.  Being 
more particularly described as follows:  Commence at the Northwest corner of the Southeast 1/4 of the 
Southwest 1/4 of said Section 3; thence South 38°52'00" East 350.10 feet for the Point of Beginning; 
thence South 77°57'06" East 309.55 feet to the Westerly right-of-way of U.S. Highway 301 (State Road 
200); thence South 16°05'08" West 144.18 feet, along the Westerly right-of-way of said U.S. Highway 
301 (State Road 200); thence North 77°57'06" West 296.19 feet; thence North 10°46'13" East 143.86 feet 
to the Point of Beginning. 

Containing 1.00 acre, more or less. 
Section 2.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this ordinance is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 3.  Conflict.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, a certified copy of 
this ordinance shall be filed with the Florida Department of State by the Clerk of the Board of County 
Commissioners within ten (10) days after enactment by the Board of County Commissioners.  This 
ordinance shall become effective upon filing of the ordinance with the Florida Department of State. 
The effective date of this amendment, Z 24-09, to the Official Zoning Atlas shall be the same date as the 
effective date of Future Land Use Plan Map Amendment, S240913A.  If Future Land Use Plan Map 
Amendment, S240913A, does not become effective, this amendment, Z 24-09, to the Official Zoning 
Atlas shall not become effective.  No development orders, development permits or land uses dependent 
on this amendment, Z 24-09, to the Official Zoning Atlas may be issued or commence before it has 
become effective. 

Section 5.  Authority.  This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Section 125.01, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, and Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended. 

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED, in regular session with a quorum present and voting, by the 
Board of County Commissioners this 17th day of October 2024. 

  BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
Attest:  OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
    
Denny Thompson, County Clerk  Carolyn B. Spooner, Chair 





























 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE 
LAND USE MAP OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT 
OF 50 OR LESS ACRES, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION S240820A; PROVIDING FOR 
CHANGING THE LAND USE CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (UP TO 1 
DWELLING UNIT PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) TO 
RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM (UP TO 8 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE); PROVIDING 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 WHEREAS, Section 125.01, Florida Statutes, as amended, empowers the Board of County 
Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Board of County Commissioners, 
to prepare, adopt and implement a comprehensive plan;  

 WHEREAS, Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Community 
Planning Act, empowers and requires the Board of County Commissioners to prepare, adopt and 
implement a comprehensive plan;  

 WHEREAS, an application for an amendment, as described below, has been filed with the County;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Planning and 
Zoning Board of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Planning and Zoning Board; 

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Local Planning 
Agency of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Local Planning Agency;  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 163.3174, Florida Statutes, as amended, and the Land Development 
Regulations, as amended, the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning 
Board, and the Local Planning Agency, held the required public hearing, with public notice having been 
provided, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the Board 
of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning Agency, 
reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below, and 
recommended to the Board of County Commissioners approval of said application for amendment, as 
described below;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners held the required public hearing, with public 
notice having been provided, under the procedures established in Sections 163.3161 to 163.3248, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said 
public hearing, the Board of County Commissioners reviewed and considered all comments received 
during the public hearing, including the recommendation of the Board of County Commissioners, 
serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning Agency and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found said application for 
an amendment, as described below, to be compatible with the Land Use Element objectives and policies, 
and those of other affected elements of the Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found that approval of said 
application for an amendment, as described, below, would promote the public health, safety, morals, 
order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity or general welfare. 

  



 

 
Page 2 of 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
Section 1.  Pursuant to an application, S240820A, by Keystone Heights RV Resort, LLC, to amend the 
Future Land Use Plan Map of the Comprehensive Plan by changing the land use classification of certain 
lands, the land use classification is hereby changed from AGRICULTURE-2 (less than or equal to 1 
dwelling unit per 5 acres, except as provided for in Policy I.2.2) to RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM (less than or 
equal to 8 dwelling units per acre) on property described, as follows: 

A parcel of land lying in Section 11, Township 8 South, Range 22 East, Bradford County, Florida.  
Being more particularly described as follows: Commence at the Southwest corner of said Section 11; 
thence North 00°34'50" West 2,696.34 feet, along the Westerly boundary of said Section 11; thence 
North 88°09'52" East 357.33 feet to the Point of Beginning; thence continue North 88°09'52" East 
1,494.61 feet; thence South 00°00'00" East 427.02 feet; thence South 66°08'22" West 650.69 feet; 
thence South 71°16'28" West 858.95 feet; thence North 05°18'25" West 922.06 feet to the Point of 
Beginning. 

Containing 23.27 acres, more or less. 
Section 2.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and portions of 
this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
Section 3.  Conflict.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
Section 4.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, a certified copy of 
this ordinance shall be filed with the Florida Department of State by the Clerk of the Board of County 
Commissioners within ten (10) days after enactment by the Board of County Commissioners.  This 
ordinance shall become effective upon filing of the ordinance with the Florida Department of State. 
The effective date of this plan amendment shall be thirty-one (31) days following the date of adoption of this 
plan amendment.  However, if any affected person files a petition with the Florida Division of Administrative 
Hearings pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes, as amended, to request a hearing to challenge the 
compliance of this plan amendment with Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, 
within thirty (30) days following the date of adoption of this plan amendment, this plan amendment shall not 
become effective until FloridaCommerce or the Florida Administration Commission, respectively, issues a 
final order determining this plan amendment is in compliance.  No development orders, development permits 
or land uses dependent on this plan amendment may be issued or commence before it has become effective.  
If a final order of noncompliance is issued, this plan amendment may nevertheless be made effective by 
adoption of a resolution affirming its effective status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to 
FloridaCommerce, Division of Community Development, 107 East Madison Street, Caldwell Building, First 
Floor, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-4120. 
Section 5.  Authority.  This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Section 125.01, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, and Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended.  

 PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED, in regular session with a quorum present and voting, by the 
Board of County Commissioners this 17th day of October 2024. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
Attest:   BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________________ 
Denny Thompson, County Clerk Carolyn B. Spooner, Chair 

























 

 
Page 1 of 3 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE 
LAND USE MAP OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT 
OF 50 OR LESS ACRES, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION S240828A; PROVIDING FOR 
CHANGING THE LAND USE CLASSIFICATION FROM RESIDENTIAL, LOW DENSITY 
(UP TO 2 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE) TO COMMERCIAL; PROVIDING 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 WHEREAS, Section 125.01, Florida Statutes, as amended, empowers the Board of County 
Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Board of County Commissioners, 
to prepare, adopt and implement a comprehensive plan;  

 WHEREAS, Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Community 
Planning Act, empowers and requires the Board of County Commissioners to prepare, adopt and 
implement a comprehensive plan;  

 WHEREAS, an application for an amendment, as described below, has been filed with the County;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Planning and 
Zoning Board of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Planning and Zoning Board; 

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Local Planning 
Agency of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Local Planning Agency;  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 163.3174, Florida Statutes, as amended, and the Land Development 
Regulations, as amended, the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning 
Board, and the Local Planning Agency, held the required public hearing, with public notice having been 
provided, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the Board 
of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning Agency, 
reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below, and 
recommended to the Board of County Commissioners approval of said application for amendment, as 
described below;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners held the required public hearing, with public 
notice having been provided, under the procedures established in Sections 163.3161 to 163.3248, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said 
public hearing, the Board of County Commissioners reviewed and considered all comments received 
during the public hearing, including the recommendation of the Board of County Commissioners, 
serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning Agency and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found said application for 
an amendment, as described below, to be compatible with the Land Use Element objectives and policies, 
and those of other affected elements of the Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found that approval of said 
application for an amendment, as described, below, would promote the public health, safety, morals, 
order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity or general welfare. 

  



 

 
Page 2 of 3 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
Section 1.  Pursuant to an application, S240828A, by Lizeth Hernandez, to amend the Future Land Use 
Plan Map of the Comprehensive Plan by changing the land use classification of certain lands, the land use 
classification is hereby changed from RESIDENTIAL, LOW DENSITY (less than or equal to 2 dwelling 
units per acre) to COMMERCIAL on property described, as follows: 

A parcel of land lying in Section 26, Township 5 South, Range 22 East, Bradford County, Florida.  
Being more particularly described as follows:  Commence at the intersection of the Southerly boundary 
of the North 1/2 of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Southwest 1/4 of said Section 26 with the 
Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad; thence North 16°33'25'' East 344.78 feet, along 
Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad to the Northerly boundary of the North 1/2 of the 
Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Southwest 1/4 of said Section 26 for the Point of Beginning; 
thence North 60°51'47'' West 352.89 feet to the Easterly right-of-way line of U.S. Highway 301(State 
Road 200); thence North 31°08'40'' East 100.00 feet, along the Easterly right-of-way line of said U.S. 
Highway 301 (State Road 200) to the beginning of a curve concave to the Northwest and having a 
radius of 11,514.16 feet; thence Northeasterly, along said Easterly boundary and along the arc of said 
curve, 526.72 feet as measured along a chord having a bearing of North 29°48'53'' East; thence South 
63°07'18'' East 201.70 feet to the Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad; thence South 
16°33'25'' West 650.18 feet, along the Westerly right-of-way line of the CSX Railroad to the Point of 
Beginning. 

Containing 4.02 acres, more or less. 
Section 2.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and portions of 
this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
Section 3.  Conflict.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
Section 4.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, a certified copy of 
this ordinance shall be filed with the Florida Department of State by the Clerk of the Board of County 
Commissioners within ten (10) days after enactment by the Board of County Commissioners.  This 
ordinance shall become effective upon filing of the ordinance with the Florida Department of State. 
The effective date of this plan amendment shall be thirty-one (31) days following the date of adoption of this 
plan amendment.  However, if any affected person files a petition with the Florida Division of Administrative 
Hearings pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes, as amended, to request a hearing to challenge the 
compliance of this plan amendment with Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, 
within thirty (30) days following the date of adoption of this plan amendment, this plan amendment shall not 
become effective until FloridaCommerce or the Florida Administration Commission, respectively, issues a 
final order determining this plan amendment is in compliance.  No development orders, development permits 
or land uses dependent on this plan amendment may be issued or commence before it has become effective.  
If a final order of noncompliance is issued, this plan amendment may nevertheless be made effective by 
adoption of a resolution affirming its effective status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to 
FloridaCommerce, Division of Community Development, 107 East Madison Street, Caldwell Building, First 
Floor, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-4120. 
  



 

 
Page 3 of 3 

Section 5.  Authority.  This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Section 125.01, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, and Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended.  

 PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED, in regular session with a quorum present and voting, by the 
Board of County Commissioners this 17th day of October 2024. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
Attest:   BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________________ 
Denny Thompson, County Clerk Carolyn B. Spooner, Chair 



























 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE 
LAND USE MAP OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT 
OF 50 OR LESS ACRES, PURSUANT TO APPLICATION S240913A; PROVIDING FOR 
CHANGING THE LAND USE CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (UP TO 1 
DWELLING UNIT PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) TO 
COMMERCIAL; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 WHEREAS, Section 125.01, Florida Statutes, as amended, empowers the Board of County 
Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Board of County Commissioners, 
to prepare, adopt and implement a comprehensive plan;  

 WHEREAS, Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Community 
Planning Act, empowers and requires the Board of County Commissioners to prepare, adopt and 
implement a comprehensive plan;  

 WHEREAS, an application for an amendment, as described below, has been filed with the County;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Planning and 
Zoning Board of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Planning and Zoning Board; 

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has been designated as the Local Planning 
Agency of Bradford County, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the Local Planning Agency;  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 163.3174, Florida Statutes, as amended, and the Land Development 
Regulations, as amended, the Board of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning 
Board, and the Local Planning Agency, held the required public hearing, with public notice having been 
provided, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said public hearing, the Board 
of County Commissioners, serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning Agency, 
reviewed and considered all comments received during said public hearing and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below, and 
recommended to the Board of County Commissioners approval of said application for amendment, as 
described below;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners held the required public hearing, with public 
notice having been provided, under the procedures established in Sections 163.3161 to 163.3248, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, on said application for an amendment, as described below, and at said 
public hearing, the Board of County Commissioners reviewed and considered all comments received 
during the public hearing, including the recommendation of the Board of County Commissioners, 
serving as the Planning and Zoning Board, and the Local Planning Agency and the Concurrency 
Management Assessment concerning said application for an amendment, as described below;  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found said application for 
an amendment, as described below, to be compatible with the Land Use Element objectives and policies, 
and those of other affected elements of the Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and found that approval of said 
application for an amendment, as described, below, would promote the public health, safety, morals, 
order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity or general welfare. 

  



 

 
Page 2 of 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
Section 1.  Pursuant to an application, S240913A, by Hassane Boubacar, to amend the Future Land Use 
Plan Map of the Comprehensive Plan by changing the land use classification of certain lands, the land use 
classification is hereby changed from AGRICULTURE-2 (less than or equal to 1 dwelling unit per 5 acres, 
except as provided for in Policy I.2.2) to COMMERCIAL on property described, as follows: 

A parcel of land lying in Section 3, Township 6 South, Range 22 East, Bradford County, Florida.  
Being more particularly described as follows:  Commence at the Northwest corner of the Southeast 1/4 
of the Southwest 1/4 of said Section 3; thence South 38°52'00" East 350.10 feet for the Point of 
Beginning; thence South 77°57'06" East 309.55 feet to the Westerly right-of-way of U.S. Highway 301 
(State Road 200); thence South 16°05'08" West 144.18 feet, along the Westerly right-of-way of said 
U.S. Highway 301 (State Road 200); thence North 77°57'06" West 296.19 feet; thence North 10°46'13" 
East 143.86 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Containing 1.00 acre, more or less. 
Section 2.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and portions of 
this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
Section 3.  Conflict.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
Section 4.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, as amended, a certified copy of 
this ordinance shall be filed with the Florida Department of State by the Clerk of the Board of County 
Commissioners within ten (10) days after enactment by the Board of County Commissioners.  This 
ordinance shall become effective upon filing of the ordinance with the Florida Department of State. 
The effective date of this plan amendment shall be thirty-one (31) days following the date of adoption of this 
plan amendment.  However, if any affected person files a petition with the Florida Division of Administrative 
Hearings pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes, as amended, to request a hearing to challenge the 
compliance of this plan amendment with Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended, 
within thirty (30) days following the date of adoption of this plan amendment, this plan amendment shall not 
become effective until FloridaCommerce or the Florida Administration Commission, respectively, issues a 
final order determining this plan amendment is in compliance.  No development orders, development permits 
or land uses dependent on this plan amendment may be issued or commence before it has become effective.  
If a final order of noncompliance is issued, this plan amendment may nevertheless be made effective by 
adoption of a resolution affirming its effective status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to 
FloridaCommerce, Division of Community Development, 107 East Madison Street, Caldwell Building, First 
Floor, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-4120. 
Section 5.  Authority.  This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Section 125.01, 
Florida Statutes, as amended, and Sections 163.3161 through 163.3248, Florida Statutes, as amended.  

 PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED, in regular session with a quorum present and voting, by the 
Board of County Commissioners this 17th day of October 2024. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
Attest:   BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________________ 
Denny Thompson, County Clerk Carolyn B. Spooner, Chair 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  October 17, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        09-03-24 budget hearing minutes – adoption of tentative millage rate and 

budget.    
 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk of Court  
 
DESCRIPTION:    n/a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONER OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

September 3, 2024 
5:30 P.M.  

Bradford County Courthouse 
945 North Temple Avenue 

Starke, Florida 32091 
 

PUBLIC HEARING  
ADOPTION OF FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025 

 TENTATIVE MILLAGE RATE AND TENTATIVE BUDGET 
 

MEETING MINUTES   
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner 

Commissioner District 4 – Vice Chair Danny Riddick 
 Commissioner District 3 – Jospeh C. Dougherty 
 Commissioner District 5 - Chair Diane Andrews 
 
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT: Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 
 
PRESS PRESENT: none 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; Finance Director Dana LaFollette; Sheriff Gordon Smith; and Fire 
Rescue Chief Ben Carter. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.  

 
2. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF TENTATIVE MILLAGE 

RATE FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025. GENERAL FUND – 10.0000 MILLS.  
 

Ms. LaFollette advised that 10.000 mills needed to fund the budget is greater than the rolled-back rate of 9.5178 
by a margin of 5.0663%. 10.0000 mills is expected to generate ad-valorem tax revenue of approximately 
$14,045,335.00; an increase from the prior fiscal-year of $1,134,314, due to an increase in property values.   
 
3. CHAIR SPOONER - CALL FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS ON THE TENTATIVE MILLAGE RATE.  

none 
 

4. CHAIR SPOONER – CALL FOR COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS ON THE TENTATIVE 
MILLAGE RATE. none 

 
5. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF A RESOLUTION 

ADOPTING THE TENTATIVE MILLAGE RATE OF 10.0000 MILLS FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-
2025.  

 
Ms. LaFollette presented the resolution for consideration, reading it by title: “A RESOLUTION OF 
THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, ADOPTING THE 
TENTATIVE LEVYING OF AD VALOREM TAXES FOR BRADFORD COUNTY FOR FISCAL-
YEAR COMMENCING ON OCTOBER 1, 2024 AND ENDING ON SEPTEMBER 30, 2025; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.” 



September 3, 2024 
Public Hearing  
Adopt Tentative Millage Rate and Budget  
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Vice-Chair Riddick to adopt the 
resolution as presented.   
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 
6. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF TENTATIVE BUDGET 

FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025.  
 
Ms. LaFollette reported that the total operating tentative budget, including interfund transfers and bond 
reserves, for fiscal year 2024-2025 is: $93,877,714.00. 
 
7. CHAIR SPOONER - CALL FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS ON TENTATIVE BUDGET FOR 

FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025. none 
 
8. CHAIR SPOONER – CALL FOR COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS ON TENTATIVE BUDGET 

FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025. none 
 
9. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF A RESOLUTION 

ADOPTING THE TENTATIVE BUDGET OF $93,877,714.00 FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025.  
 
Ms. LaFollette presented a resolution for consideration, reading it by title: “A RESOLUTION OF THE 
BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS ADOPTING THE TENTATIVE 
BUDGET FOR BRADFORD COUNTY FOR FISCAL-YEAR COMMENCING ON OCTOBER 1, 2024 
AND ENDING ON SEPTEMBER 30, 2025; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.” 
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to adopt the 
resolution as presented.   
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 
10. ANNOUNCE FINAL PUBLIC BUDGET HEARING DATE.  
 
Ms. LaFollette announced that the final budget hearing date is scheduled for Tuesday, September 17, 2024 at 
5:30 p.m., in the commission meeting room.  
 
Chair Spooner recognized County Manager Scott Kornegay who presented the following items: 
 
 PRESENTATION OF A REPORT ON COMPLETED WORK ASSIGNMENTS IN EACH 

DISTRICT BETWEEN JULY AND AUGUST.  
 

Following discussion from the board’s morning meeting concerning work activities from the public works – 
road department, Mr. Kornegay presented a report of duties that the department completed in each district 
between the months of July and August.  

 
 CONSIDER PURCHASING MOWING EQUIPMENT AND HIRING ADDITIONAL 

STAFFING IN PUBLIC WORKS.  



September 3, 2024 
Public Hearing  
Adopt Tentative Millage Rate and Budget  
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Following discussion from the board’s morning meeting concerning operations of the public works – road 
department, Mr. Kornegay presented the board with a proposal to purchase two batwing mowers and hire three 
additional personnel.  
 
Discussion: 

• Remarks not in favor of hiring and purchasing additional staff given the county’s financial state.  
• Remarks made that if the board does not take action to purchase new equipment or hire additional staff 

then it should refrain from complaining about operations.  
• Comments expressing interest in exploring alternative options such as hiring seasonal workers, 

equipment lease program, additional inmate labor, revised work schedule, and partnerships with other 
agencies for support.  

• Remarks made that some parts of the county were too wet to mow because of Hurricane Debby and the 
rainy season.    

• Public works current inventory includes two batwing mowers.  
• Public works has been working every Friday and Saturday since Hurricane Debby.  

 
No action taken by the board to purchase additional equipment or hire additional staff.  
 
 HCA TRANSFER REVENUE UPDATE  

 
Chief Carter reported that HCA Florida Starke Emergency will begin to handle non-emergency transfers, while 
the county will continue emergency transfers. This arrangement will reduce the revenue the county receives 
from HCA for transport services, but it will free up additional units to respond to emergency calls.     
 
Discussion: 

• Total number of interfacility transfers in FY 22-23 is 1,682 annually, or 4.6 per day. Gross revenue 
generated from interfacility transfers in FY 22-23 is $1,247,219. Taking the gross revenue ($1,247,219) 
and dividing it by the total number of transfers (1,682) determines that interfacility transfers in FY 22-23 
generated $741.51 gross revenue per call. According to the FY 22-23 Florida EMS Cost Report, the 
average cost per transport for BCFR was $730. To determine the cost of interfacility transfers, take the 
average cost per call ($730) and multiply it by the total number of transfers (1,682), which equals 
$1,227,860. To calculate the NET revenue generated from interfacility transfers, take the gross revenue 
($1,247,219) and subtract the cost of the interfacility transfers ($1,227,860), leaving the NET revenue 
generated from interfacility transfers at $19,3359. 

• Per Chief Carter, on 05/21/2020 the board entered into an agreement with HCA with an effective date of 
05/01/2020. On 04/15/2020 the county added a fifth ambulance to accommodate the anticipated increase 
call volume for interfaculty transfers. The fifth ambulance went out of serve on 03/17/2022.   

• Since 03/17/2022, transfers have been handled with four ambulances on a rotating cycle.  
• Revenue from billing hospitals for wall-time (staff wait time) at hospitals prior to patient admission will 

help offset the loss of revenue from interfacility transfers.  
 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the public hearing was adjourned at 6:33 p.m.  
 
 
 



September 3, 2024 
Public Hearing  
Adopt Tentative Millage Rate and Budget  
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA  
 
 
      
                
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
 
 
ATTEST:         
      DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK OF COURT 
 
 
 
Minutes prepared by:        
   Rachel Rhoden, Chief Deputy Clerk  
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  October 17, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        09-03-24 regular meeting minutes.     
 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk of Court  
 
DESCRIPTION:    n/a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
September 3, 2024 

9:30 A.M.  
Bradford County Courthouse 

945 North Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  

Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick  
Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty  
Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 

 
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT: Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 
 
PRESS PRESENT: None 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; County Attorney Rob Bradley; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; Finance Director Dana LaFollette; 
Sheriff Gordon Smith; Col. Brad Smith; Fire Rescue Chief Ben Carter; Division Chief Dylan Rodgers; Public 
Works Director Jason Dodds; Ag Interim Director Cindy Sanders; and Library Interim Director Kimberly 
Crawford.   
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 9:30 A.M.  
 

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
• Paul Still  

 
3. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. MEETING MINUTES FROM 08-06-2024. 
B. EMERGENCY MEETING MINUTES FROM 08-09-2024. 
C. LAW ENFORCEMENT SALARY ASSISTANCE FOR BRADFORD COUNTY - $703,809. 
D. PURCHASE ORDER AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 100 (P.O. 35) BETWEEN LUTHERAN 

SERVICES FLORIDA, INC. (LSF) AND BRADFORD COUNTY FOR USE OF OPIOID 
ABATEMENT FUNDS FOR YEAR TWO OF THE COMMUNITY RESOURCE 
PARAMEDICINE PROGRAM.  

E. GRANT FOR AK ELITE PREMIER MAINTENANCE FOR 911 PHONE SYSTEMS - $30,050. 
F. ANNUAL CERTIFIED BUDGET FOR MOSQUITO CONTROL, 24-25 FISCAL YEAR (STATE - 

$65,494.12/COUNTY- $65,494.12).  
G. REVISED PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES. 
H. TOURSIT DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL (TDC) ANNUAL BILLBOARD RENTAL AND VINYL 

INSTALLATION - $7,550. 
I. TDC BILLBOARD VINYL - $650. 
J. TDC INVOICE FOR GIVE AWAY ITEMS TO PROMOTE BRADFORD CO. AT RURAL CO. 

DAYS MAR. 19-20, 2024 - $4,105. 
K. TDC REGISTRATION FOR BRADFORD CO. 10X20 BOOTH AT RURAL CO DAYS. 
L. CONTRACT BETWEEN BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

AND STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE OPERATION OF THE 
BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT CONTRACT YEAR 2024-2025 (BRADFORD 
- $82,500/STATE OF FLORIDA - $1,500,244).   



September 3, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 7 
 
 
 

M. A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONER OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

N. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF SATISFACTION OF MORTGAGE ON SHIP PURCHASE FILE – 
MITOLA M&A 

O. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF SHIP REHABILITATION LOAN APPROVAL IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $35,000 FOR SHIP FILE # 2021-1 

P. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF SHIP REHABILITATION LOAN APPROVAL IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $35,000 FOR SHIP FILE # 2021-2 
 

Discussion: none 
 
It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Chris Dougherty to approve 
the consent agenda.  
 
Motion Carries 4-0   
 

4. PROPOSAL FROM MERIDIAN BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE, INC FOR USE OF OPIOID 
ABATEMENT FUNDS REMAINING FROM THE 23-24 STATE FISCAL YEAR (FY) TO 
FUND A MEDICATION ASSISTED TREATMENT PROGRAM. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Ashley Tozier, Senior Vice-President, Medical Services, and Sara Mihlfeld Vice 
President, Medication Assisted Treatment Service with Meridian. Ms. Tozier asked the board to consider 
donating its remaining opioid funds from FY 2023-2024 in the amount of $87,000 to Meridian. Additionally, 
Ms. Tozier presented a PowerPoint presentation on their substance abuse services and partnerships.   

 
Discussion: 

• Funds will be used to fund a peer position to provide support, resources, and referrals, and a counselor 
position to complete intake assessment and provide ongoing individual/group therapy.  

• Ms. Rhoden advised the board that they will need to reduce the FY 2024-2025 paramedicine budget by 
$87,000 if they donate said funds to Meridian.  

• In response to whether Meridian would request continued funding from the county for opioid services 
following FY 2024–2025, Ms. Tozier stated that prior to contacting the county, Meridian would need to 
explore alternative funding sources such as grants and billing the client or insurance.  

• County Manager Kornegay stated the funding request being made should not be considered recurring.  
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Commissioner Riddick to donate 
$87,000 to Meridian Healthcare for opioid services for FY 2023-2024, not to be recurring. 
 
Motion Carries 4-0   
 

5. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE PURCHASE OF A 2024 RAM 1500 TRADESMAN 4X4 
CREW CAB FROM MURRAY CHRYSLER DODGE JEEP RAM FOR $47,095.48 FOR THE 
US/IFAS AG EXTENSION OFFICE.  
 

Chair Spooner announced that agenda item 5 is removed from the agenda.  



September 3, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 7 
 
 
 

6. UF/IFAS AG EXTENSION YEARLY PRESENTATION.  
 
Chair Spooner recognized Interim Director Dr. Cindy Sanders to present a yearly report on operations. Dr. 
Sanders recognized the following agents who shared the following highlights about their programs: 
 
Bailey Scarbourgh – 4-H Youth Development Agent 

• 8 active 4-H clubs – 119 club members 
• In-school embryology program 
• County level programs/events 
• Member participation at the district and state levels 
• Summer day camps 
• 4-H fundraisers 
• 500+ volunteer hours 
• Two scholarships awarded to graduating seniors.  

 
Dr. Sanders presented on behalf of Luke Harlow – Horticulture and Small Farms Agent  

• Florida-friendly landscaping  
• Partnering with library programs 
• Commercial landscaping certification  
• Site visits and consultations 
• Master Gardner volunteer program  
• Outreach programs – Bradford County Fair, Strawberry Festival, Arbor Day tree giveaway.  
• Crop producer diagnostic assistance 
• Home and community food production site visits and consultation  
• School gardens 

 
Lizzy Whitehead – Livestock and Natural Resources Agent  

• Improving livestock production  
• Pasture management and natural resources 
• 4-H animal services 
• Contacts made 1,391 
• Beef Bash Youth Exhibitors  
• Workshops and Attendees 
• UF/IFAS Summer Intern hours  
• $2500 UF Professional Development Grant  
• Australian Beargrass EIPM Grant  

 
Discussion:  

• Possible cause of the recent fish kill in nearby lakes was likely caused by reduced oxygen levels due to 
the recent heavy rainfall.  
 
 
 



September 3, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 4 of 7 
 
 
 

7. CLERK REPORTS – DENNY THOMPSON  
 
Chair Spooner recognized Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden who shared the following reports: 

• Reminder of budget hearing at 5:30 pm, 09/03/24, to adopt the tentative millage rate and budget.  
• Acknowledged that the county manager scheduled a budget workshop on 09/10/24 at 5:00 p.m. She 

asked that the board use this workshop as an opportunity to review submitted budgets and refrain from 
making any adjustments to the budget during that time. Ms. Rhoden informed the board that the clerk's 
office meets with the county manager in or around February to discuss a proposed budget timeline that 
specifies when the board should hold budget workshops, which is typically between March and July. 
During these workshops, the board will be able to review and comment on budget requests, a capital 
improvement plan, and other matters that need to be resolved in order to finalize the budget for adoption 
in September.  

• Advised the board that it should set up a workshop as soon as possible to talk about fire rescue 
operations and how it intends to handle the possible opening of a new station in Brooker or possible 
service reductions. She forewarned the board that while the fire study data is still current, they should 
address these issues promptly.  

 
Discussion: 

• Comments on the importance of scheduling budget workshops.  
• Comments on the importance of a Capital Improvement Plan.  

 
8. SHERIFF REPORTS – GORDON SMITH 

A. CODE ENFORCEMENT – SHED/RV ISSUE 
 
Sheriff Smith recognized Corp. Glen Ward, Code Enforcement Officer, to provide information on issues 
pertaining to non-permitted activity such as citizens residing in sheds and RV’s. Sheriff Smith cautioned that in 
order for his office to comply with regulations, a more assertive approach to these issues will be required.  
 
Discussion:  

• Concerns expressed with citizens who have no other means for residence aside from living in a shed or 
RV. 

• When asked if the county's code enforcement ordinance should be amended to address the concerns 
raised, Sheriff Smith responded that the ordinance is acceptable and that his office will need to bring 
people into compliance following the ordinance.   

• Compliments for Corp. Glen Ward's efforts on code enforcement.  
 

9. COUNTY MANAGER REPORTS – SCOTT KORNEGAY 
A. COMMUNITY PLANNING TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GRANT AWARD 

 
Mr. Kornegay reported that the state approved a community planning technical assistance grant and that Amber 
Sheperd, strategic alliances business partner with Northeast Florida Economic Development Corporation 
(NFEDC) will be at the next board meeting to review the details of said grant. Additionally, Mr. Kornegay 
shared that as part of the grant, NFEDC will look at hiring a firm to deliver renderings of potential plans at S.R. 
16 and bypass interchanges as well at the Douglas property recently acquired by the county.  



September 3, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 5 of 7 
 
 
 

Discussion – none  
 

B. AQUATIC PLANT REMOVAL AT SAMPSON LAKE  
 
Mr. Kornegay shared that a site visit was completed last Thursday with Jason Dodds, Capt. Brad Witt, and 
Commissioner Andrews. He recognized Capt. Witt who reported that during the site visit there were two 
vendors present - CLR Aquatics Inc. and Smith Property Solutions, to review the condition of vegetation in the 
canal in order to submit a quote for plant removal. As of today, after reaching out to several vendors, only CLR 
has provided a quote in the amount of $8,000 to cut and shred vegetation blocking the canal. 
 
Discussion: 

• Process to address vegetation through shredding or dredging.  
• Interest in proceeding with the quote with CLR. 
• Capt. Witt responded to a question about whether the shredded vegetation will clog 3-pipes by saying 

that, as far as he is aware, the shredded material will be microscopic and dissolve into the water. He 
shared that no concerns about debris having a negative impact have been raised.  

• Situation with Lake Sampson is unique to other lakes in the surrounding area.  
• Comments on the need to develop a regular maintenance plan to address aquatic vegetation in Lake 

Sampson.  
 
The board was in CONSENSUS to move forward with the proposal from CLR if a better proposal cannot be 
provided by the end of the week.  
 
 MHD ROCKLAND UPDATE 

 
Mr. Kornegay reported that he and Jason Dodds met with representatives of MHD Rockland on the Douglas 
building property site (parcel 04712-0-00000) to map out the section of the property they would need for 
development. MHD Rockland will need approximately half of the total acreage. Mr. Kornegay noted that MHD 
Rockland received a preliminary draft of the property lease agreement from his office for review.  
 
Discussion - none 
 
 PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT  

 
Mr. Kornegay expressed gratitude to Jason Dodds for his contributions and highlighted the value he brings to 
the county. 
 
Discussion: 

• Comments of appreciation for Jason Dodds. 
 
 CANVASSING BOARD – CHAIR SPOONER  

 
Chair Spooner asked if Commissioner Andrews would serve on canvassing board in place of Judge Davis who 
will no longer be serving. Commissioner Andrews expressed her willingness to serve.  
 



September 3, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 6 of 7 
 
 
 

10. COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS – ROB BRADLEY  
 
In response to Commissioner Dougherty’s inquiry about developing procedures that address private roads, Mr. 
Kornegay shared that Zoning Director Randy Andrews is currently working with the planning council (North 
Central Florida Regional Planning Council) to draft language in the LDR (Land Development Regulations) 
requiring developers to pave roads for new subdivisions.   
 
With respect to existing subdivisions, Mr. Bradley cautioned the board on getting into the business of real estate 
transactions that would inform new buyers that the property they will be purchasing is private. Furthermore, he 
advised that all consenting property owners can impose a tax on themselves to pay for road improvements.   
 

11. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS  
 
Commissioner Andrews: 

• Remarks on the lack of maintenance received in District 5 from the public works department.  
 
Commissioner Dougherty: 

• Announced that on September 11, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. at the Bradford High School Stadium an event will 
take place to walk the number of stairs the firefighters ascended in the twin towers in remembrance of 
9/11.  

• Remarks acknowledging public works – road department operations with limited resources. 
 
Vice Chair Riddick: 

• Remarks acknowledging public works – road department operations in District 4. 
 

12. CHAIR’S COMMENTS 
• Congratulated Commissioner Andrews on her re-election.  
• Congratulated Amber Sheperd on helping the county obtain a grant for economic development.  
• Thanked all those involved in addressing a downed powerline in Lincoln City. 
• Comments that resources are needed for county right-of-way maintenance.  
• Remarks made on the need to address a private road.  
• Announced that tax free week ends this week.  

 
 
ADJOURN:  There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:40 a.m.  
 
 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 



September 3, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 7 of 7 
 
 
 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
 
 
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  October 17, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        09-10-24 budget workshop minutes.    
 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk of Court 
 
DESCRIPTION:    n/a  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
September 10, 2024 

5:00 P.M.  
Bradford County Courthouse 

945 North Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
BUDGET WORKSHOP MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  
      Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 
      Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty  

Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick  
Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 

PRESS PRESENT: None 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; County Attorney Rich Komando; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; Ag/Extension Interim Director 
Dr. Cindy Sanders; Community Development Director Kelly Canady; Solid Waste Director Bennie Jackson; 
Interim Director Kimberly Crawford; Senior Center Director Diane Gaskins; VA Officer Barbara Fischer; Fire 
Rescue Chief Ben Carter; Division Chief Dylan Rodgers; Zoning Director Randy Andrews; Public Works Jason 
Dodds; Col. Brad Smith. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the workshop to order at 5:00 P.M.  
 

2. CITY OF STARKE (CITY) AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF POLICE AND FIRE 
DISPATCH SERVICES.  

 
Chair Spooner recognized Col. Brad Smith who recommended that the board terminate its agreement for the 
provision of police and fire dispatch services.  
 
Discussion: 

• The City of Starke Police Department was dissolved; therefore, city police dispatch services are no 
longer necessary. The county still provides dispatch services into the city for fire and after-hour line 
crews.  

• Per Col. Smith, fire dispatch services Afrom the city to the county and vice versa is nearly equal.  
• To cover the cost of the sheriff's office dispatching deputies inside the city, the city pays the sheriff's 

office 2.5 mills. 
 
The board was in CONSENSUS to terminate the agreement and to stop invoicing the city for dispatch 
services.  
 

3. DEPARTMENT BUDGETS: 
A. VETERANS AFFAIRS 

Chair Spooner recognized Barbara Fischer who presented her budget.  
 
Discussion - none  
 

B. AGRICULTURE 
Chair Spooner recognized Dr. Sanders who presented her budget and explained that the difference in salaries from FY 
2023-2024 to FY 2024-2025 is a result of adding two new agents and a compression increase. She advised that the county 
is saving money on an extension director that is fully funded by UF IFAS 



September 10, 2024 
BoCC Budget Workshop Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 

Discussion  
• New items requested – an increase in travel for the agents and painting the interior and exterior of the 

ag/extension building. 
 

C. SENIOR CENTER 
Chair Spooner recognized Diane Gaskins who presented her budget.  
 
Discussion – none  
 

D. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT (SHIP) 
Chair Spooner recognized Kelly Canady who presented her budget.  
 
Discussion – none  
 

E. SOLID WASTE/MOSQUITO CONTROL  
Chair Spooner recognized Bennie Jackson who presented his budgets explaining that the increase in his FY 2024-2025 
solid waste budget is a result of tipping fees, salaries, and replacement of two compactors in Lawtey and Starke. He 
advised that his mosquito control budget is a dollar-for-dollar match between the state and county. Lastly, he reported that 
he has a total of 20 employees.  
 
Discussion: none 
 

F. PLANNING AND ZONING  
Chair Spooner recognized Randy Andrews who presented his budget. 
 
Discussion – none  
 

G. LIBRARY 
Chair Spooner recognized Tricia Wylie and Kimberly Crawford who presented the library budgets reporting that while 
they have fewer staff, they still provide the same level of service. Ms. Wylie shared that the library receives funding 
mostly from the county and from state aid, which is contingent upon the county's contribution.  
 
Discussion: none  
 

H. MAINTENANCE AND ROADS 
Chair Spooner recognized Jason Dodds who presented his budgets. He shared that his fuel budget is shared with all 
county departments/offices.  
 
Discussion 

• Comments commending Jason Dodds.   
• Chain of command within county operations.  
• Commissioner Andrews stated that she will direct all her requests through the county manager’s office. 
• In regards to public works helping the Town of Brooker with their fire station, Mr. Dodds said he will 

keep trying to help Brooker whenever he can, but he does not have staff available to dedicate for an 
extended period of time.  

• Completed road paving projects.  
• Savings of approximately $3.2 million in CEI costs that Jason provides. 



September 10, 2024 
BoCC Budget Workshop Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 

• Purchase of a used mower in the amount of $99,000 and hire one additional employee for the public works 
department.  

• Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden cautioned against spending more county money before addressing 
its spending in the Fire Rescue division.  

• Interest in holding budget workshops to discuss all county needs and spending before budgeting new expenses.  
• Concern expressed over the lack of resources in public works to handle all county maintenance needs.  

 
I. FIRE RESCUE  

Chair Spooner recognized Chief Ben Carter who presented his budget stating that his department generates over 
41% of its own revenue to cover expenses. He reported that his department will receive two new fire engines to 
replace an aging fleet and two, possibly three, new living quarters to replace the unsafe, outdated portable 
buildings that are currently used as staff living quarters. The majority of the funding for these projects comes 
from grants and state appropriations.  
 
Discussion: 

• Poor condition of flooring in current portable living quarters.  
• ISO rating evaluation.  
• Reminder of 9/11 stair walk event. 

 
ADJOURN:  There being no further business, the workshop adjourned at 6:05 p.m.  
 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
 
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       
 
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  October 17, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        09-17-24 budget hearing minutes – adoption of final millage rate and budget.  
 
  
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk of Court 
 
DESCRIPTION:    n/a  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONER OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

September 17, 2024 
5:30 P.M.  

Bradford County Courthouse 
945 North Temple Avenue 

Starke, Florida 32091 
 

PUBLIC HEARING  
ADOPTION OF FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025 

 FINAL MILLAGE RATE AND FINAL BUDGET 
 

MEETING MINUTES   
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner 
 Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 

Commissioner District 4 – Vice Chair Danny Riddick 
 Commissioner District 5 - Chair Diane Andrews 
 
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:  Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty 
 
PRESS PRESENT: none 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; Clerk of Court Denny Thompson; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; and Finance Director Dana 
LaFollette. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.  

 
2. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF FINAL MILLAGE RATE 

FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025. GENERAL FUND – 10.0000 MILLS.  
 

Ms. LaFollette advised that 10.000 mills needed to fund the budget is greater than the rolled-back rate of 9.5178 
by a margin of 5.0663%. 10.0000 mills is expected to generate ad-valorem tax revenue of approximately 
$14,045,335.00; an increase from the prior fiscal-year of $1,134,314.00, due to an increase in property values.   
 
3. CHAIR SPOONER - CALL FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS ON THE FINAL MILLAGE RATE – none. 

 
4. CHAIR SPOONER – CALL FOR COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS ON THE FINAL MILLAGE 

RATE – none.  
 
5. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF A RESOLUTION 

ADOPTING THE FINAL MILLAGE RATE OF 10.0000 MILLS FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025.  
 
Ms. LaFollette presented the resolution for consideration, reading it by title: “A RESOLUTION OF 
THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, ADOPTING THE FINAL 
LEVYING OF AD VALOREM TAXES FOR BRADFORD COUNTY FOR FISCAL-YEAR 
COMMENCING ON OCTOBER 1, 2024 AND ENDING ON SEPTEMBER 30, 2025; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.” 

 
 



September 17, 2024 
Final Budget Workshop Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Thompson and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to adopt the 
resolution as presented.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  
Commissioner Andrews – Aye 
Chair Spooner -Aye 
Commissioner Thompson – Aye 
Vice Chair Riddick – Aye 
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 
6. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF FINAL BUDGET FOR 

FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025.  
 
Ms. LaFollette reported that the total operating final budget, including interfund transfers and bond reserves, for 
fiscal year 2024-2025 is: $93,324,959.00. 
 
7. CHAIR SPOONER - CALL FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS ON FINAL BUDGET FOR FISCAL-

YEAR 2024-2025. none 
 
8. CHAIR SPOONER – CALL FOR COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS ON FINAL BUDGET FOR 

FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025. none 
 
9. FINANCE DIRECTOR DANA LAFOLLETTE – PRESENTATION OF A RESOLUTION 

ADOPTING THE FINAL BUDGET OF $93,324,959.00 FOR FISCAL-YEAR 2024-2025.  
 
Ms. LaFollette presented a resolution for consideration, reading it by title: “A RESOLUTION OF THE 
BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS ADOPTING THE FINAL BUDGET 
FOR BRADFORD COUNTY FOR FISCAL-YEAR COMMENCING ON OCTOBER 1, 2024 AND 
ENDING ON SEPTEMBER 30, 2025; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.” 
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Thompson and SECONDED by Commissioner Andrews to adopt the 
resolution as presented.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  
Commissioner Andrews – Aye 
Chair Spooner -Aye 
Commissioner Thompson – Aye 
Vice Chair Riddick – Aye 
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 
Clerk Thompson made comments on the need to schedule workshops in the future to discuss the budget and 
county needs before adopting the final budget.  
 
Commissioner Andrews made comments on the need to discuss the fire assessment in addition to holding 
budget workshops.  
 



September 17, 2024 
Final Budget Workshop Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

Chair Spooner commended the clerk’s finance department and county manager’s office in preparing the budget.  
 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the public hearing was adjourned at 5:40 p.m.  
 
 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA  
 
 
      
                
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
 
 
ATTEST:         
      DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK OF COURT 
 
 
 
Minutes prepared by:        
   Rachel Rhoden, Chief Deputy Clerk  
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  October 17, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        09-17-24 regular meeting minutes.   
 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk of Court 
 
DESCRIPTION:    n/a  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
September 17, 2024 

6:30 P.M.  
Bradford County Courthouse 

945 North Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  

Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 
Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick  
Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 

 
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT: Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty  
 
PRESS PRESENT: None 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; Clerk of Court Denny Thompson; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; Finance Director Dana 
LaFollette; Fire Rescue Chief Ben Carter; and Tax Collector Teresa Phillips. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M.  
 
Chair Spooner recognized the passing of Frank Kozdraz (County Manager Scott Kornegay’s stepfather) and his 
many accomplishments while serving in the US Air Force.    
 

2. FIRE RESCUE AWARDS AND COMMENDATIONS.  
 
Chief Carter recognized the following for their rescue efforts of a citizen in a submerged vehicle.  

• Bystander Clint Ripley  
• Bystander Aaron Crews (former Bradford County Firefighter/EMT) 
• Bystander Johnathan Sweat 
• Firefighter/EMT John Tallman  
• Firefighter/EMT Joel Haas 
• Firefighter/EMT Dakota Drummond  
• Paramedic McKenzie Pederson 
• Firefighter/EMT Jensen Stewart 

 
Chief Carter recognized the following for their rescue efforts of a citizen who suffered a cardiac emergency. 

• Bystander Jennifer Redding  
• Paramedic McKenzie Pederson 
• Firefighter/EMT Jensen Stewart 
• EMT Trainee Clint Collins 
• Lieutenant Ashley Reul 
• Lieutenant Jason Hersey 
• Starke Fire Rescue Ashley Moore 
• Starke Fire Rescue Kelly Outlaw 

 
 



September 17, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 
 

3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
• Vyunda Strong 

 
4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. MEETING MINUTES FROM 08-15-2024. 
B. RATIFICATION OF PAYMENT REGISTER(S) FROM 07-10-24 THRU 09-04-24. 
C. ACCEPT AND ACKNOWLEDGE COUNTY CERTIFICATES ELIGIBLE FOR TAX DEEDS. 
D. A RESOLUTION (Resolution No. 2024-19) OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA PROVIDING FOR THE EXTENSION OF THE 2024 
ASSESSMENT ROLLS PURSUANT TO SECTION 197.323, FLORIDA STATUTES AND 
SECTION 193.122, FLORIDA STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

E. INVENTORY SURPLUS/DELETE LIST. 
F. REINSTATE 2005 FORD DUALLY TO COUNTY INVENTORY. 
G. RETROACTIVE APPROVAL OF LETTER OF DESIGNEE FOR THE EDWARD BYRNE 

MEMORIAL JAG GRANTS. 
H. RETROACTIVE APPROVAL OF SUBAWARD MANAGEMENT QUESTIONNAIRE 

SIGNATURE FOR FDLE GRANTS. 
I. YEAR 6 PEMT/MCO LETTER OF AGREEMENT (NET REVENUE $380,178.71). 
J. ACCEPTANCE OF FIRE ENGINE DONATION FROM CITY OF LAWTEY. 
K. A RESOLUTION (Resolution No. 2024-20) OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 
CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FINANCIAL PROJECT ID NUMBER 211522-1-52-01. 

L. A RESOLUTION (Resolution No. 2024-21) OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A LOCAL 
AGENCY PROGRAM AGREEMENT WITH THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FINANCIAL PROJECT ID NUMBER 447120-1-58-01 FOR THE 
OVERSIGHT OF CONSTRUCTION AND CEI MANAGEMENT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION 
OF A BIKE PATH/TRAIL ON CR 325 AT THE HAMPTON TRAILHEAD AT BOBBY 
SHEPPARD PARK.  

M. HCA FLORIDA NORTH FLORIDA HOSPITAL CERTIFICATE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE 
AND NECESSITY TO PROVIDE INTERFACILITY TRANSPORT FROM THE LOCAL 
FREESTANDING EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT.  

 
Discussion:   

• Agenda items K and L. 
 
It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Thompson to approve the 
consent agenda.  
 
Motion Carries 4-0   
 
 
 
 



September 17, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 
 

5. APPROVAL OF FMIT AND FACT INSURANCE RATES THROUGH ROBERTS INSURANCE 
OF STARKE, INC., FOR 2024-2025, INCLUDING PROPOSED OPTION 3 FOR PROPERTY 
WIND COVERAGE.  

 
Chair Spooner recognized Scott Roberts with Roberts Insurance who reported that there will be a 5% to 6% 
increase in premium rates for county property, along with an increase in property values. He advised that the 
county’s named storm deductible is now 5% and recommended that the board raise it to 10% which would 
result in a premium savings of approximately $75,000. He stated that the county would be qualified to receive 
federal reimbursement funds in the event that wind damage from a named storm occurred.  
 
Discussion - none 
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Thompson and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve the 
insurance the rates as presented.  
 
Motion Carries 4-0   

 
6. CLERK REPORTS – DENNY THOMPSON  

 
Clerk Thompson thanked Dana LaFollette for all her efforts in preparing the FY 2024-2025 budget.  
 

7. SHERIFF REPORTS – GORDON SMITH- none  
 

8. COUNTY MANAGER REPORTS – SCOTT KORNEGAY 
 

Mr. Kornegay thanked the board for their sentiments on the passing of his stepfather. He shared that the recent 
press release issued by the governor’s office concerning funds issued to rural counties was to highlight the 
current year project funds from FDOT SCRAP and SCOP programs – it was not an announcement of additional 
funds to rural counties.  
 

9. COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS – RICH KOMANDO – none  
 

10. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS  
 

Overall comments from the board expressing appreciation to the clerk’s office and fire rescue.  
 

11. CHAIR’S COMMENTS 
• Shared a request from Conner Nugent for sponsors of the Bradford County Highschool 

Academic Team. 
• Encouraged support of community events.  
• Comments in support of economic grant opportunities. 
• RJE developed a tiny-tot playground with assistance from the City of Starke. RJE is seeking 

funding for signage and a fence.  
 
 



September 17, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 
 

ADJOURN:  There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:12 p.m.  
 
 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
 
 
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  10-17-2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM_       Termination of Contract with HCA for Interfacility Transfers 

(90 Day Notice)  
 
DEPARTMENT:   Fire Rescue  
 
PURPOSE: To notify HCA of the County’s intent to terminate the current 

agreement for interfacility transfers and enter into negotiations 
for a revised agreement.  

 
ASSOCIATED COSTS: NA 
 
G/L ACCOUNT: NA 
 
 
  
 



                    

 
 
                     
  
 

945 North Temple Avenue • P.O. Drawer B • Starke, Florida 32091 • Tel (904) 966-6327 • Fax (904) 368-3903 
Commissioners E-mail: bocc@bradfordcountyfl.gov • Website: www.bradfordcountyfl.gov 

 

 

 

Bradford County 
Board of County Commissioners  

District I        District II                     District III                  District IV            District V 
Carolyn Spooner       Kenny Thompson          Chris Dougherty           Danny Riddick          Diane Andrews  
Chair                                 Vice Chair 

 

October 17, 2024 

 

To Whom It May Concern,  

 

We are writing to formally provide 90 days’ notice of termination of our current 

agreement for interfacility transfers between Bradford County and HCA North Florida 

Regional Medical Center. This termination will become effective as of February 1, 

2025. 

 

We have greatly valued the positive working relationship we have built over the years, 

and it has been a privilege to partner with HCA North Florida Regional Medical Center 

in providing high-quality patient care. While this letter serves as notice of termination 

of the existing agreement, it is our sincere hope that we can continue collaborating.  

 

We are eager to explore the possibility of entering into negotiations for a new agreement 

that better serves both parties. We believe that an arrangement where Bradford County 

handles time-sensitive, emergent interfacility transfers will allow us to maintain the 

strong partnership we have established, with a continued focus on delivering the best 

possible care for our shared community. 

 

 

 



                    

 
 
                     
  
 

945 North Temple Avenue • P.O. Drawer B • Starke, Florida 32091 • Tel (904) 966-6327 • Fax (904) 368-3903 
Commissioners E-mail: bocc@bradfordcountyfl.gov • Website: www.bradfordcountyfl.gov 

 

 

 

Bradford County 
Board of County Commissioners  

District I        District II                     District III                  District IV            District V 
Carolyn Spooner       Kenny Thompson          Chris Dougherty           Danny Riddick          Diane Andrews  
Chair                                 Vice Chair 

 

Thank you for your understanding and cooperation. We look forward to the 

opportunity to discuss and negotiate a new agreement. Should you have any questions 

or wish to schedule a meeting, please do not hesitate to contact us.  

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
______________________________ 
Carolyn Spooner, Chairwoman 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  9-17-2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM_       BCFR COPCN  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Fire Rescue  
 
PURPOSE: Approval of BCFR certificate of public convenience and 

necessity.    
 
ASSOCIATED COSTS: N/A 
 
G/L ACCOUNT: N/A 
 
 
  
 



 

 

Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 

CERTIFICATE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY 
WHEREAS, Bradford County Fire Rescue provides quality emergency medical treatment and transportation services to 

citizens of Bradford County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it has been demonstrated that there is a need for this ambulance service to operate in this county to provide 
essential services to the citizens and visitors of Bradford County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Bradford County Fire Rescue has indicated that it will comply with all requirements of Chapter 401, F.S., 
Emergency Telecommunication and Transportation Act, and Chapter 38 of the Bradford County Code, the Board of County 
Commissioners of Bradford County hereby issues a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity to Bradford County Fire 
Rescue, effective July 1, 2024, until June 30, 2026. 

 

 In issuing this Certificate, it is understood that Bradford County Fire Rescue will meet all State and Local requirements 
and provide ALS and BLS emergency medical treatment and transport on a twenty-four hours a day basis for Bradford County.  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Denny Thompson, Clerk to the Board  

BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS:  
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Carolyn Spooner, Chairwoman 

 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:  10/17/24      
    
AGENDA ITEM:  State Aid to Libraries Grant Agreement  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Library     
 
PURPOSE:  Permission to apply for the state aid to libraries grant, obtain board chair/CEO  
                    and clerk/finance manager signatures on grant agreement.   
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  N/A  
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  N/A  
  



















Carolyn Brown Spooner, Chairperson, 
Bradford County Board of County 
Commissioners 


10/17/2024

10/17/2024

















Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:  10/17/24       
    
AGENDA ITEM:  Certification of hours for state aid grant application  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Library     
 
PURPOSE:  Board Chair signature as required for state aid grant application  
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  N/A  
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  N/A  
  



Tricia Wylie

9/30/2024





Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A 
LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
DEPARTMENT: Emergency Management 
 
PURPOSE: A Local State of Emergency was declared on September 24, 

2024, for Hurricane Helene 
  
  



Page 1 of 4 
 

RESOLUTION 2024 - _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A LOCAL STATE OF 
EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2011, the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida adopted Ordinance 2001-05; later codified as Chapter 26 of 

the Bradford County Code of Ordinances (hereinafter referred to as the Code) invoking the 

powers provided for in Chapter 252, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of the Code, the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida granted authority to the Emergency 

Management Director to declare, by proclamation, a state of local emergency from time 

to time when it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration, and; 

WHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duration of 

each state of emergency declared locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, 

as necessary, in seven-day increments; and 

WHEREAS, on September 24, 2024, Potential Tropical Cyclone Nine was 

identified as a system that has a high probability of tropical cyclone formation, bringing 

tropical storm conditions with the potential to produce conditions of flash flooding, 

inundated waterways, raised water levels of streams, rivers, and lakes with structure and 

roadway impacts; and 



Page 2 of 4 
 

WHEREAS, on September 24, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declared and proclaimed a local state of emergency in 

Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive 

Emergency Management Plan and authorize the utilization of emergency powers provided 

under Sections 252.31 through 252.62, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 

finds that the aforementioned declaration of a state of local emergency for the period 

commencing on September 24, 2024, and continuing through October 1, 2024, was and 

remains in the best interest of Bradford County, Florida and its citizens. 

NOW THEREFORE be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  Adoption and Incorporation of Recitals. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida adopts the 

above-outlined recitals and incorporates them herein as part and parcel of this 

resolution. 

Section 2.   Purpose and Authority for Resolution. 

 This resolution is adopted for the purpose of confirming the September 24, 2024, 

proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners Chairman 

declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of 

activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorizing 

the utilization of emergency powers provided  -- and is adopted pursuant to the 



Page 3 of 4 
 

authority granted by Chapters 125 and 252, Florida Statutes, Chapter 26, Bradford County 

Code of Ordinances. 

Section 3.   Confirmation of Proclamation and Declaration of Emergency. 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida hereby confirms the 

September 24, 2024, proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, 

Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency 

Management Plan and authorizing the utilization of emergency powers, attached hereto 

as “Exhibit 1” and incorporated herein by reference, and declares a local state of 

emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the period commencing on September 24, 

2024, and continuing through October 1, 2024. 

Section 4.  Effective Date of Resolution 

 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

 

 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 

 

  



Page 4 of 4 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford 

County, Florida, with a quorum present and voting, this 17th day of October 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:  CAROLYN SPOONER, its 
        Chairwoman 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:   DENNY THOMPSON, as 
        Clerk to the Board 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  RICH KOMANDO, as 
       County Attorney 
  



Page 5 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 







Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Local State of Emergency Extension Proclamation for 

Hurricane Helene – October 1, 2024 – October 7, 2024. 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION 
EXTENDING A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
DEPARTMENT:    Emergency Management 
 
PURPOSE: The Local State of Emergency was extended for Hurricane 

Helene on October 1, 2024 
  



Page 1 of 4 
 

RESOLUTION 2024 - _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION EXTENDING A LOCAL 
STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2011, the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida adopted Ordinance 2001-05; later codified as Chapter 26 of 

the Bradford County Code of Ordinances (hereinafter referred to as the Code) invoking the 

powers provided for in Chapter 252, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of the Code, the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida granted authority to the Emergency 

Management Director to declare, by proclamation, a state of local emergency from time 

to time when it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration, and; 

WHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duration of 

each state of emergency declared locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, 

as necessary, in seven-day increments; and 

WHEREAS, on September 24, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioners Chairman signed a Proclamation Declaring a Local State of Emergency 

for Bradford County due to Potential Tropical Cyclone Nine; and 



Page 2 of 4 
 

WHEREAS, the National Hurricane Cetner upgraded Potential Tropical 

Cyclone Nine to Hurricane Helene, which made landfall as a Category 4 storm on 

September 26, 2024. 

WHEREAS, the devastating effects of Hurricane Helene – specifically including, 

accumulated debris, downed trees and power lines, loss of power, and other serious 

damage, particularly damage resulting from the severe wind event – were felt by 

Bradford County and its residents; and 

WHEREAS, on October 1, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declared and proclaimed an extension to the local state of 

emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County 

Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorize the utilization of emergency 

powers provided under Sections 252.31 through 252.62, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 

finds that the aforementioned declaration of a state of local emergency for the period 

commencing on October 1, 2024, and continuing through October 7, 2024, was and 

remains in the best interest of Bradford County, Florida and its citizens. 

NOW THEREFORE be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida as follows: 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 4 
 

Section 1.  Adoption and Incorporation of Recitals. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida adopts the 

above-outlined recitals and incorporates them herein as part and parcel of this 

resolution. 

Section 2.   Purpose and Authority for Resolution. 

 This resolution is adopted for the purpose of confirming the October 1, 2024, 

proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners Chairman 

declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of 

activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorizing 

the utilization of emergency powers provided  -- and is adopted pursuant to the 

authority granted by Chapters 125 and 252, Florida Statutes, Chapter 26, Bradford County 

Code of Ordinances. 

Section 3.   Confirmation of Proclamation and Declaration of Emergency. 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida hereby confirms the 

October 1, 2024, Proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declaring and extending a local state of emergency in 

Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive 

Emergency Management Plan and authorizing the utilization of emergency powers, attached 

hereto as “Exhibit 1” and incorporated herein by reference, and declares a local state 

of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the period commencing on October 1, 

2024, and continuing through October 7, 2024. 



Page 4 of 4 
 

Section 4.  Effective Date of Resolution 

 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 

 

  



Page 5 of 4 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford 

County, Florida, with a quorum present and voting, this 17th day of October 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:  CAROLYN SPOONER, its 
        Chairwoman 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:   DENNY THOMPSON, as 
        Clerk to the Board 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  RICH KOMANDO, as 
       County Attorney 
  



Page 6 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BR-{DFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

PROCLA.MATION DECI-ARING A LOCAI STATE OF EMERGENCY

A PROCI.AMATION BY THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISIONERS, DECIARING A LOCAI STATE OF EMERGENCY IN
BRADFORD COT]NTY, FLORIDA REI.ATED TO HURRICANE HE.LENE
AND AS AUTHORTZED By SECTTON 252.38Q)b)F),FIoRIDA STATUTES.

WHEREAS, on March 5, 2001, the Board of County Commissioners of Bmdford County,

Florida adopted Ordinance 2001-05, later codiEed as Chaptet 26 of the Bradford Coml Codt of

Ordinancet iwol<ttg the powers provided for in Chapter 252, Flori& Statutes; and

\07HEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of $e BradJord Conry Cofu of Ordinanaq the Chair of

the Board of County Commissioners may declare, by ptoclamation, a State of Local Emetgency when

it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration: and

'iYHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duration ofeach state

of emergency declq'ed locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, as necessary; and

WHEREAS, on September 24rh,2024, Potential Tropical Cyclone Nine a broad area of low

pressue ovet the notthwestem Caribbean Sea. The System had a high chance of tropical cyclone

formation during the next day or tq/o and was likely to bring topical storm conditions to land areas

within the next 36 to 48 hours; and on Septembet 25s, 2024, the National Hurricane Centet upgraded

Potential Ttopical Cyclone Nine to Hutdcane Helene; and on September 2 6d,2024, HlLric ne Helene

made landfall within the Flodda Big Bend area as a devastating Category 4 storm, ptoducing life

threatening wind, flooding and debris.; and

WHEREAS, Hutricane Helene produced conditions of flash flooding, inundated waterways,

and raised watet levels of stteams, dvets, and lakes; and

Prge 7 of 2



WHEREAS, given the conditiofl of Bradford County and the rainfa\ flooding conditions,

wind and impacted structures and roadways; and

!7HEREAS, a teview of all relevant factors, including the information oudined herein,

indicates that curent conditions pose a severe tlreat to Btadford County, Florida; and

!?HEREAS, the effects of Hurricane Helene tequires that ti-ely ptecautions be taken to

protect the community, ctitical inftastructue and general welfare of Bradford County, Florida; and

'07HEREAS, the impacts of Hurricane Helene created a sevete and immediate threat to the

health, safety and welfate of the citizens ofBtadfotd County, Flotida; and

VHEREAS, said severe and immediate tlueat to the health, safety and welfare of the citizens

of Btadfotd County tepresents a ffue and active emergency; and

I0THEREAS, the declaation of a local state of emetgency under these conditions is determined

to be in the best interest of Bradford County and its citizens.

NOIU THEREFORE, pusuant to the authodty gtanted by Chapter 26, Bradford Comry Code,

z:nd Chrptet 252, Florida Stat*es, fot the aforementioned and above-oudined reasons, the undersigned,

Commisionr Camln Spoonr, Chair of the Board oJ Com j Connisioner:, hereby (1) declares and proclaims

a locd sate of emergency in Bradfotd County, Floti&, fot the period commencing on Octobet f',

20?.A and continuing tfuough October 76, 2024; and (2) activates t\e Bradford Couy Conprchmioe

Eneqenry Plat xd authorizes the utilization of the emetgency powers ptovided undet

Sections 252.37 tfuorl,gh 252.62, Floida Stat*s.

6L
PROCI-AIMED this Day of Octobe4 2024

By, atoly. as lts
Chair of the

Prge 2 of 2

Board of County Commissioners



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Local State of Emergency Second Extension Proclamation 

for Hurricane Helene – October 7, 2024 – October 14, 2024 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION 
EXTENDING A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
DEPARTMENT:    Emergency Management 
 
PURPOSE: The Local State of Emergency was extended for an additional 

seven days for Hurricane Helene on October 7, 2024. 
  



Page 1 of 4 
 

RESOLUTION 2024 - _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION EXTENDING A LOCAL 
STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2011, the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida adopted Ordinance 2001-05; later codified as Chapter 26 of 

the Bradford County Code of Ordinances (hereinafter referred to as the Code) invoking the 

powers provided for in Chapter 252, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of the Code, the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida granted authority to the Emergency 

Management Director to declare, by proclamation, a state of local emergency from time 

to time when it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration, and; 

WHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duration of 

each state of emergency declared locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, 

as necessary, in seven-day increments; and 

WHEREAS, on September 24, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioners Chairman signed a Proclamation Declaring a Local State of Emergency 

for Bradford County due to Potential Tropical Cyclone Nine; and 



Page 2 of 4 
 

WHEREAS, the National Hurricane Cetner upgraded Potential Tropical 

Cyclone Nine to Hurricane Helene, which made landfall as a Category 4 storm on 

September 26, 2024. 

WHEREAS, the devastating effects of Hurricane Helene – specifically including, 

accumulated debris, downed trees and power lines, loss of power, and other serious 

damage, particularly damage resulting from the severe wind event – were felt by 

Bradford County and its residents; and 

WHEREAS, the impact of Hurricane Helene requires timely precautions be 

taken to protect the community, critical infrastructure, and the general welfare of 

Bradford County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declared and proclaimed a second extension to the local 

state of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the 

Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorize the utilization of 

emergency powers provided under Sections 252.31 through 252.62, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 

finds that the aforementioned declaration of a state of local emergency for the period 

commencing on October 7, 2024, and continuing through October 14, 2024, was and 

remains in the best interest of Bradford County, Florida and its citizens. 

 



Page 3 of 4 
 

NOW THEREFORE be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  Adoption and Incorporation of Recitals. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida adopts the 

above-outlined recitals and incorporates them herein as part and parcel of this 

resolution. 

Section 2.   Purpose and Authority for Resolution. 

 This resolution is adopted for the purpose of confirming the October 7, 2024, 

proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners Chairman 

declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of 

activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorizing 

the utilization of emergency powers provided  -- and is adopted pursuant to the 

authority granted by Chapters 125 and 252, Florida Statutes, Chapter 26, Bradford County 

Code of Ordinances. 

Section 3.   Confirmation of Proclamation and Declaration of Emergency. 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida hereby confirms the 

October 7, 2024, Proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declaring and extending a local state of emergency in 

Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive 

Emergency Management Plan and authorizing the utilization of emergency powers, attached 

hereto as “Exhibit 1” and incorporated herein by reference, and declares a local state 



Page 4 of 4 
 

of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the period commencing on October 7, 

2024, and continuing through October 14, 2024. 

Section 4.  Effective Date of Resolution 

 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 

 

  



Page 5 of 4 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford 

County, Florida, with a quorum present and voting, this 17th day of October 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:  CAROLYN SPOONER, its 
        Chairwoman 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:   DENNY THOMPSON, as 
        Clerk to the Board 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  RICH KOMANDO, as 
       County Attorney 
  



Page 6 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

PROCLAMATION DECT-A.RING A LOCAI STATE OF EMERGENCY

A PROCLAMA'TION BY THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISIONERS, DECLARING A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA RELATED TO HURRICANE HELENE
AND AS AUTHORTZED By SECTTON 2s2.38Q)@,)(5), FIO&IDA STATUTES.

'07HEREAS, on March 5, 2001, the Board of County Commissionets of Bmdfotd County,

Florida adopted Otdinance 2001-05, later codiEed as Chapter 26 of the Bradford Counry Code oJ

Ordinances irokstgthe powers provided for in Chapter 252, Flonda Statutes; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(z) of the BradJord Coany Co& of Ordinams, the Chair of

the Boatd of County Commissionets may declate, by ptoclamation, a State of l-ocal Emergency when

it is deternined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration: and

IflHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Flodda Statutes, ttre duration of each state

of emergency declated locally is lit''i1gd 16 seven days and may be extended, as necessary; and

WHEREAS, on September 24th, 2l24,Potential Ttopical Cyclone Nine a broad area of low

ptessrre ovet the northq/estem Cadbbean Sea. The System had 2 high ghanss of tropical cyclone

formation during the next day or two and was likely to bring tropical storm conditions to land areas

within the next 36 to 48 hours; and ofl September 25s, 2024, the National Hurica''e Center upgreded

Potential Tropical Cyclone Nine to Hurricane Helene; and on September 266,2024,Huar:cane Helene

made landfall within the Flod& Big Bend atea as a devastating Category 4 stotm, producing life

threatening wind, flooding and debris.; and

!7HEREAS, Hurdcane Helene ptoduced conditions of flash flooding, inun&ted waterways,

and raised water levels of steams, rivets, and lakes; and

Ptge 7 of 2



IYHEREAS, given the condition of Bmdfotd CorlrltF and the rainfalt fl6eding conditions,

wind and impacted structutes aod roadways; and

WHEREAS, a review of all relevant factots, including the infornation oudined herein,

indicates that curent conditions pose a severe tbreat to Btadfotd County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the effects of Hurricane Helene requires that time\ precautions be talren to

ptotect t}Ie community, ctitical inftastructure and general welfate of Bradfotd County, Flodda; and

WHEREAS, the impacs of Hur:ricane Helene created a sevete and inomediate threat to the

health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Btadford County, Florida; and

'J7HEREAS, said sevete and immerliate threat to the health, safety and welfare of the citizens

of Btadfotd County represents a ttue aod active emergenry; and

WHEREAS, the declaation of a local state of emetgency under ttrese conditions is determined

to be in the best interest of Bradford County and its citizens.

NOItrf THEREFORE, pursuant to the authodty grantedby Chtptet 26, Bradford Conry Code,

and Chaptet 252,Florida Stautes, for the aforementioned and above-oudined reasons, th" *16ffsig'' ed,

Commissioner Camfu Spooncr, Cbair of tbe Board of Con j Connirioners, heteby (7) declates and proclaims

a local state of emergency in Btadfod County, Flod&, fot the petiod commencing on October ?6,

2024 arid continuing through Octobet 1.4h, ?-024; and (2) activates the Bradford Cortty Conpnheniw

Ene4nry Managetnent Pht and authorizes the utilization of the emergency powen provided undet

Sections 252.37 rhrough 252.62, Florida S taans.

PROCI-AIMED this Day of Octobe4 2024

alolyn ner as 1tsB

Page 2 of 2

of the oard of County Commissionets



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Local State of Emergency Proclamation for Hurricane Milton 

– October 7, 2024 – October 14, 2024. 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A 
LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

DEPARTMENT:    Emergency Management 
 
PURPOSE: A Local State of Emergency was proclaimed for Hurricane 

Milton October 7, 2024. 
  



Page 1 of 4 
 

RESOLUTION 2024 - _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A LOCAL STATE OF 
EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2011, the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida adopted Ordinance 2001-05; later codified as Chapter 26 of 

the Bradford County Code of Ordinances (hereinafter referred to as the Code) invoking the 

powers provided for in Chapter 252, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of the Code, the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida granted authority to the Emergency 

Management Director to declare, by proclamation, a state of local emergency from time 

to time when it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration, and; 

WHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duration of 

each state of emergency declared locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, 

as necessary, in seven-day increments; and 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, Hurricane Milton was identified as a Category 

3 storm with continued intensification, with the potential to produce conditions of flash 

flooding, inundated waterways, raised water levels of streams, rivers, and lakes with 

structure and roadway impacts upon its anticipated landfall; and 



Page 2 of 4 
 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declared and proclaimed a local state of emergency in 

Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive 

Emergency Management Plan and authorize the utilization of emergency powers provided 

under Sections 252.31 through 252.62, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 

finds that the aforementioned declaration of a state of local emergency for the period 

commencing on October 7, 2024, and continuing through October 14, 2024, was and 

remains in the best interest of Bradford County, Florida and its citizens. 

NOW THEREFORE be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  Adoption and Incorporation of Recitals. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida adopts the 

above-outlined recitals and incorporates them herein as part and parcel of this 

resolution. 

Section 2.   Purpose and Authority for Resolution. 

 This resolution is adopted for the purpose of confirming the October 7, 2024, 

proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners Chairman 

declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of 

activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorizing 

the utilization of emergency powers provided  -- and is adopted pursuant to the 



Page 3 of 4 
 

authority granted by Chapters 125 and 252, Florida Statutes, Chapter 26, Bradford County 

Code of Ordinances. 

Section 3.   Confirmation of Proclamation and Declaration of Emergency. 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida hereby confirms the 

October 7, 2024, proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, 

Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency 

Management Plan and authorizing the utilization of emergency powers, attached hereto 

as “Exhibit 1” and incorporated herein by reference, and declares a local state of 

emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the period commencing on October 7, 

2024, and continuing through October 14, 2024. 

Section 4.  Effective Date of Resolution 

 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

 

 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 

 

  



Page 4 of 4 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford 

County, Florida, with a quorum present and voting, this 17th day of October 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:  CAROLYN SPOONER, its 
        Chairwoman 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:   DENNY THOMPSON, as 
        Clerk to the Board 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  RICH KOMANDO, as 
       County Attorney 
  



Page 5 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, ELORIDA

PROCLAMATION DECI-ARING A LOCAI STATE OF EMERGENCY

A PROCLAMA'TION BY THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISIONERS, DECLARING A LOCAI STATE OF EMERGENCY IN
BRADFORD COUNTY, ELORIDA RELATE,D TO MAJOR HLIRRICANE
MILTON AND AS AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 252.38(3)(a)(s), FIDRIDA
STATUTES.

WHEREAS, on March 5, 2001, the Boad of County Commissioners of Bradford County,

Flodda adopted Ordinance 2001-05, Iater codified as Ch,Ftet 26 of rhe Bradford Coug Cofu of

Ordirunces iorolr.ng the powers provided for in Chapter 252, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, putsuant to Section 26-8(a,) of the Bradford Couy Co& of Ordinanos, the Chair of

ttre Boatd of County Commissioners may declare, by ptoclam^1ierr, 
" 

5ote of Local Emetgency when

it is detenrrined that conditions exist givi::g rise to such e declaration: and

WHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Flotida Satutes, ttre duration of each state

of emetgency declared locally is limited to seven &p and rnay be extended, as necessary; and

IVHEREAS, on October 7n, 2024, Hurdcane Milton became a Maior Category 3 stomq with

continued intensification and expected landfall within tle next 24-36 hours. The System can produce

devastaring stodn surge, flooding, extreme winds, and life-tfueateoing conditions.

WHEREAS, Majot Hurricane Milton is expected to ptoduce devastating storm surge, exteme

winds, flooding and life-tbreatening conditions.

!7HEREAS, given the condition of Bradford County and the tainfa.ll, fleeding conditions,

wind and impacted structures ald roadways; and

WHEREAS, a teview of all relevant factots, induding the information oudined hetein,

indicates that cuffeot conditiolrs pose a severe threat to Bradford County, Florida; and

Page 7 of 2



!?HEREAS, the effecs of Maiot H,'ricane Milton requires that timely ptecautions be taken

to ptotect tl-re community, critical inftastructue aod genetal welfate of Bradfotd County, Florifu and

WHEREAS, the impacts of Maior Hurdcane Milton have ttre potential to create a severe and

immediate thteat to the healttr, safety and welfare of the citizens of Btadford County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, said sevete and immediate tlreat to tle health, safety and welfare of ttre citlzens

of Bmdford County represents a true and active emergeocy; and

WHEREAS, pursuaflt to Executive Ordets 214 ar,d 275, the declaration of a local state of

emetgency uodet these conditions is detettnined to be in the best interest of Bmdford County and its

dtzens.

NOW THEREFORE, pusuant to the authodty gtanted by Chtpter 26, Bmdford CottnE Codt,

and Chapter 252, Fbrida Stauas, fot ttre aforementioned and above-oudined reasons, the undetsigned

Commisdoner Camfu Spooner, Cbair of tlte Boatd of Cony Conniiorurs, hereby (7) declares and procleims

a local sate of emergency in Bradfotd County, Florida, for ttre petiod commencing on October 76,

2021 zmd. continuing through Octobe t t46 , 20?A; and (2) activates the Bmdford Conj Compnbensin

Enagenry Matagemmt Plan ar.'d authodzes the uti.lization of the emergency powers provided under

Sections 252.37 thrctgh 252.62, Fbrida Statuat.

PROCI*AIMED this Dry of Octobet,2024

ef Spooner as is
Chair o the Board of Countv Commissioners

Pzge 2 of 2



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  10-17-2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM_       Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Survey 

agreement with PCG 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Fire Rescue  
 
PURPOSE:  The Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Survey is 

part of a federal program designed to gather detailed 
information about the costs and operational factors associated 
with ground ambulance services. The data collected will be 
used by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) 
to evaluate and potentially adjust the reimbursement rates for 
ambulance services under Medicare. Participation in the survey 
is mandatory for some randomly selected providers. We are 
one of those providers.  

 
Failure to complete the survey will likely result in a 10% 
reduction in Medicare payments.  

 
 
ASSOCIATED COSTS: $20,000 
 
G/L ACCOUNT: 111-54-526-51000-00 
 
 
  
 



 

Public Consulting Group LLC 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
 

 

MEDICARE GROUND AMBULANCE DATA COLLECTION 

PREMIUM SERVICE (TIER III) 

WORK PROPOSAL FOR BRADFORD COUNTY FIRE RESCUE, FLORIDA  
 

Purpose 

Satisfying the requirements of Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Medicare 

Ground Ambulance Data Collection (MGADC) Instrument while limiting the risk of an audit 

and penalty association with noncompliance (e.g., a 10% reduction to Bradford County Fire 

Rescue’s Medicare payments for one full calendar year).  

 
MGADC Scope of Work 

Public Consulting Group (PCG) shall provide full support to Bradford County Fire 

Rescue to accomplish the following tasks under the Premium service package: 

 
Compilation of all supporting documentation as required to complete the MGADC 

Instrument including but not limited to billing data, CAD/dispatch reports, CAFR/annual 

financial reports, payroll reports, mileage reports, technician reports, among others. 

 
Input of all necessary data into the 13 sections within the MGADC Instrument. 

 
Development of cost allocation plans and indirect cost rates as complaint with 2 CFR 
200 and the Medicare Provider Reimbursement Manual. 

 

Submission of the MGADC Instrument via the CMS web-based portal, and the 
respective supplemental documentation to CMS, if any. 

   
Provide up to twenty (20) hours of assistance with audits of the Instrument, either in 

person (if the audit is conducted onsite) or through telephone/e-mail (if the audit is a desk 

audit). If additional audit support hours are needed as the result of unsatisfactory work 

performed by the Consultant, these will be provided at no charge. 

 
Provide up to ten (10) hours of debriefing and Q&A once the MGADC Instrument 

has been completed.  

 

Approach 

Data Collection Preparation 

Prior to the start of the Bradford County Fire Rescue 12-month collection period, an 
assessment tool will be provided to determine which of the data elements are currently being 
collected accurately and what gaps there may be to fill. It is also key to our success that 
Bradford County Fire Rescue understand the data elements and how to report them based on 
the CMS Instrument. A review of Bradford County Fire Rescue’s internal accounting process 
may be necessary to ensure data is being captured correctly. Pulling sample data reports 
periodically can be a helpful process to review the implementation of the best practices that PCG 
has developed. 

 

From Collection to Submission 

To explain the data that must be collected, CMS has chosen a web-based tool (which it calls the 



 

Public Consulting Group LLC 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
 

"Instrument"), though that tool is not yet available in its final version. Until CMS releases the final 
version of the online tool, it has provided a PDF version of the instrument.  

 

This document reveals the format, scope, and criteria of what an agency must collect. It is 

essential that Bradford County Fire Rescue familiarize themselves with the data requirements 
laid out in the instrument, and ensure they have appropriate mechanisms in place to track this 
data throughout the collection period.  

 

PCG will train and support appropriate parties in collecting the data. In addition, outreach to 
revenue and cost contributors will need to take place to ensure Bradford County Fire Rescue is 
being provided the correct data in the correct format.  

 

To prepare Bradford County Fire Rescue for the CMS Medicare Ground Ambulance Data 
Collection, PCG will perform the following tasks: 

 

• Review the data collection requirements in detail to evaluate the current availability, 
access, and format of the required data; 

• Select the appropriate payer category for billing ambulance transports; 

• Identify sources of revenue and cost categories; 

• Coordinate with internal and external stakeholders to source needed data;  

• Identify data requirements that are not currently tracked or that are not reported to the 
level of detail as required in the Ground Ambulance Data Collection Instrument; and  

• Based on analysis, evaluate if it is necessary to revise processes for data collection, 
access new systems to obtain information, and/or coordinate with other staff. 

 

In summary, our dedicated team of EMS Consultants are prepared to provide the necessary 

hours of assistance regarding cost survey data collection, compilation, MGADC Instrument 
reporting, and submission. Our PCG Help Desk EMS Consultants are available via both 
telephone and e-mail. Bradford County Fire Rescue’s dedicated PCG team will review existing 
cost allocation plans and indirect cost rates to ensure they are complaint with 2 CFR 200 and the 
Medicare Provider Reimbursement Manual. 

 

Through to PCG’s development of our Ambulance Service Cost Reporting (ASCR) online 
tool/portal, our EMS Consultants are experts at identifying, accounting for, entering and 
submitting all necessary data into the thirteen (13) sections within the MGADC Instrument, 
including tracking and uploading the necessary supplemental documentation to CMS. PCG 
knows that federal EMS reporting can require additional assistance, and our EMS Consultants 
will be available to field any follow-up questions related to the completed MGADC Instrument.  

 

Summary of Data Collection Elements 

In broad terms, CMS is looking for:  

• Total costs related to ground ambulance services;  

• Total revenue from ground ambulance services; and  

• Total ground ambulance service utilization. 

 

CMS is not restricting the data to those services that were billable to Medicare.  

 

Accordingly, CMS recognizes that some agencies share operational costs with fire departments, 
other public service organizations, air ambulance services, hospitals, and other entities. This is 

https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/AmbulanceFeeSchedule/Downloads/Medicare-Ground-Ambulance-Data-Collection-System-Instrument.pdf


 

Public Consulting Group LLC 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
 

applicable to Bradford County Fire Rescue because cost must be appropriately allocated to 
EMS operations.  

 

Such interwoven costs can make it difficult to accurately discern the costs specifically associated 

with the provision of ground ambulance services. To address this, CMS has proposed to further 
refine three separate categories:  

• Cost and revenue components partially related to ground ambulance services;  

• Cost and revenue component entirely related to ground ambulance services; and  

• Cost and revenue components completely unrelated to ground ambulance services (these 
would not be reported) 

 

Within this, there are several components that CMS will evaluate:  

• Organizational characteristics: Agency info, service area, ownership, response time, 
etc.  

• Utilization statistics: Responses, transports, service levels by HCPCS  

• Staff and labor costs: Clinical, administrative, facilities, volunteer  

• Facilities cost: Mortgage, insurance, maintenance, utility  

• Vehicle costs: Annual depreciation, fuel, maintenance, and insurance  

• Equipment and supply costs: Capital medical and non-medical  

• Other costs: Anything not reported, e.g. marketing, travel, professional  

• Total cost: To cross-reference what is reported in the instrument  

• Revenue: Billing data (by payor), membership fees, grants, etc. 

 

PCG will be available throughout the data collection process to answer questions that will prompt 
Bradford County Fire Rescue to record the required information accurately. Once all 
components of the data elements have been passed to PCG, we will take on the responsibility of 
compiling it and submitting the final Instrument to CMS.  

 

Data Analysis  

PCG will communicate with Bradford County Fire Rescue 

throughout the data review process with status updates and any 
clarification questions regarding the data during status meetings 
for updates. The cost surveying work will focus on compliance 
and audit risk minimization. After the data is reviewed, PCG will 
provide the Bradford County Fire Rescue team with a decision 
summary for sign off before beginning the process of MGADC 
preparation. During this step, we will draw on our access to and 
history with EMS providers across the country to provide 
guidance on necessary determinations such as allowable and 
shared costs. Our tool combined with our book of clients across the country allows us to provide 
Bradford County Fire Rescue with benchmark data. Bradford County Fire Rescue may have an 
interest in seeing how their cost per transport compares to departments of similar size or with a 
comparable call volume. 

 

We implement year-to-year comparisons of billing and expenditures data and identify any areas 
in which significant changes occur. Because all data is stored in this system, an audit trail is 
created as the MGADC Instrument is completed.  

 

Completion of Instrument 

As a bonus, the 
approach to unify 
reporting into a 
single tool will 
create a 
comprehensive 
audit package with 
all relevant 
data stored in the 
multifunctional 
system 



 

Public Consulting Group LLC 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
 

Submission of the MGADC will be completed through a CMS web-based portal. CMS has begun 

to open registration for the portal to those providers selected for participation in Year 1 and Year 
2 based on their collection period. From participating in CMS’ user testing of the portal, PCG 
believes that we will have the capability to serve as a proxy for Bradford County Fire Rescue 
and access the portal on Bradford County Fire Rescue’s behalf. CMS has also released training 
resources on how to navigate this web-based tool.  

 

Once a login is created for the CMS web-based portal, PCG will be able to enter data directly into 
the tool. The format should mimic the Data Collection Instrument Printable version. We do know 
that the tool will use skip logic, and includes reporting in multiple choice, text field entry and data 
table formats.  

 

Federal Audit Support 

CMS has the authority to deem submitted MGADC Instruments as insufficient or incomplete 
which will lead to a ten percent payment reduction for a one-year period to the Medicare 
payments under the Medicare Part B ambulance fee schedule. It has been stated the Secretary 
will establish a process under which a provider may seek an informal review to determine 
whether that provider is subject to the payment reduction.  

 

In the event this occurrence comes to fruition, PCG will provide Bradford County Fire Rescue 
with additional support services to guide Bradford County Fire Rescue through the process. 
PCG has years of experience in this area and will be prepared to submit obtained records/raw 
data, explanation of data elements, and utilization statistics verification. However, the overall 
checks and balances throughout the MGADC process that PCG has developed yields a high 
level of accuracy that should meet all CMS standards.  

 

Web-based Portal and Training Resources 

As mentioned above, CMS will opened registration for their web-based portal and training in 
January of 2023. In addition to the tools/resources that CMS has and will provide, PCG will 
supply Bradford County Fire Rescue with access to its own web-based cost surveying tool, the 
ASCR, for the purpose of uploading raw data files. Our proprietary system will perform real-time 
validation checks for quality assurance and accuracy. No other vendor in the country utilizes a 
web-based surveying tool to compile, review, and audit all data components included in the cost 
survey prior to final submission.  

 

MGADC training materials will be distributed through the Bradford County Fire Rescue’s 
designated support team as well as online. Formatting of material includes, but is not limited to, 
live information sessions, assessment checklists and systematic presentations.  

 

Schedule 

Data shall be collected during the 12-month collection period based on the fiscal year of 

October 1, 2023 to September 31, 2024. Final submission to CMS shall occur on or before 

February 28, 2025. 

 

Fee Schedule 

PCG shall be compensated a flat-fee of $20,000 (twenty thousand dollars) for the services 

outlined herein. PCG will invoice Bradford County Fire Rescue within thirty (30) days following 

the submission of the Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Instrument. Bradford County 

Fire Rescue will remit payment to PCG within thirty (30) days of invoice receipt.  
 



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 1 
 
 

MEDICARE GROUND AMBULANCE DATA COLLECTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

This Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between Bradford County Fire Rescue (“PRO-
VIDER”) and Public Consulting Group LLC (“PCG”) as of October 3, 2024 (“Effective Date”). 
 
WHEREAS, The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) implemented a Ground Ambu-
lance Data Collection System in response to legislation passed by Congress in the Bipartisan Budget Act 
of 2018 requiring providers of ground ambulance services to collect and report expenditures, revenues, 
utilization, and other data; and 
 
WHEREAS, PCG possesses professional skills that can assist PROVIDER in collecting and reporting the 
required data elements to complete the Ground Ambulance Data Collection System; and  
 
WHEREAS, PROVIDER wishes to engage PCG as an independent contractor to perform professional 
services in connection with this initiative;  
 
THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is acknowledged, 
PROVIDER and PCG hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. Description of Services 

PCG will provide the professional services assigned by PROVIDER and more fully described in 
Attachment A (the “Contracted Services”). PCG acknowledges and agrees that time is of the es-
sence in the value of the Contracted Services and shall render such Contracted Services in a 
prompt and diligent manner.  

 
2.         Term  

PCG will commence performance for the Contracted Services under this Agreement on the Effec-
tive Date and will complete performance by June 30, 2026 (the “Term”). Unless otherwise speci-
fied by PROVIDER in writing, PCG will provide the Contracted Services for the full Term.  
 
Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, all rights granted hereunder 
shall immediately terminate except for those concerning compensation, confidentiality, intellec-
tual property, or any other provision that, by its terms, is intended to survive the expiration or ter-
mination of this Agreement.  Specifically, notwithstanding the expiration or termination of the 
Agreement, PROVIDER will compensate PCG as set forth herein with respect to any reimburse-
ments PROVIDER receives after the expiration or termination of this Agreement that are the re-
sult of the Contracted Services 

 
3. Compensation 

a. PROVIDER will compensate PCG pursuant to the provisions contained in Attachment B 
and this Section 3, and will not pay PCG any other benefits, expenses, or compensation. 
The compensation arrangement may be changed by written agreement of the parties.   

 
b. PROVIDER will compensate PCG within thirty (30) days following the receipt of any 

billing statement(s) from PCG that comport with the terms of this Agreement and Attach-
ment B. PCG shall submit billing statements directly to the PROVIDER Contact Person 
identified in Section 5.  

 

https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/AmbulanceFeeSchedule/Ground-Ambulance-Services-Data-Collection-System
https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/AmbulanceFeeSchedule/Ground-Ambulance-Services-Data-Collection-System


 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 2 
 
 

c. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, PCG will be entitled to receive com-
pensation for Contracted Services satisfactorily provided prior to the effective date of ter-
mination or expiration.  

 
4. Termination 

This Agreement may be terminated immediately by either party following a material breach of 
this Agreement and a failure to cure such breach within ten (10) business days after receiving 
written notice.  

 
5. Notices and Contact Persons 

Any notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall 
be effective upon any of the following:  (1) when delivered personally to the person designated 
below to receive notices for the party (the party’s “Contact Person”); (2) when e-mailed to the 
party’s Contact Person at the e-mail address listed below with an acknowledgment of receipt; or 
(3) five days after being deposited into the United States mail (either certified mail with return 
receipt requested, or first class postage prepaid), addressed to the party’s Contact Person at the 
address set forth below.  The individuals listed below shall serve as each party’s Contact Person 
for purposes of this Agreement unless the party replaces the Contact Person by written notice to 
the other party as required by this Section: 

 
For PCG: For PROVIDER: 
Sarah DiCicco  Ben Carter   
Associate Manager  Chief of Fire Rescue  
Public Consulting Group LLC Bradford County Fire Rescue  
816 Congress Avenue, Suite 1110 945-C N. Temple Ave.  
Austin, TX 78701 Starke, FL 32091   
sdicicco@pcgus.com ben_carter@bradfordcountyfl.gov 
  

6. Subcontracting  
PCG may subcontract work under this Agreement to one or more of its affiliate companies. 

 
7. Standards of Conduct 
             PCG shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and standards of ethical conduct, 

including those relating specifically to the performance of the Contracted Services under this 
Agreement. 

 
8. Relationship of the Parties 

a. The parties agree that PCG is an independent contractor, and that neither it nor any of its 
employees is an employee of PROVIDER. 
 

b. PCG shall secure and maintain all insurance, licenses, and/or permits necessary to per-
form the Contracted Services. PCG shall pay all applicable state and federal taxes includ-
ing unemployment insurance, social security taxes, and state and federal withholding 
taxes. PCG understands that neither it nor its employees will be eligible for benefits or 
privileges provided by PROVIDER to its employees. PROVIDER will deliver to PCG 
statements of income at the end of each tax year consistent with its independent contrac-
tor status.   
 



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 3 
 
 

c. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Agreement, PCG has complete and exclu-
sive authority over the means and methods of performing the Contracted Services, need 
not adhere to policies and procedures applicable to PROVIDER employees, and may per-
form the Contracted Services according to its own schedule at its own offices or at any 
other location.  PCG shall hire its own employees, use its own tools and equipment, and 
purchase its own supplies.  

 
d. PCG has no authority to and shall not purport to bind, represent, or speak for PROVIDER 

or otherwise incur any obligation on behalf of PROVIDER for any purpose unless ex-
pressly authorized by PROVIDER. 

 
9. Record Maintenance 

With respect to all records of any kind that PCG acquires or creates for purposes of performing 
the Contracted Services, PCG shall not knowingly destroy records that are required to be pre-
served by law and shall maintain project records in an orderly manner.  

 
10. Assignment 

This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the prior written consent of the other 
party, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  Notwithstanding the forego-
ing, this Agreement may be assigned by either party: (i) to one of its affiliates or subsidiaries; or 
(ii) in connection with a merger, consolidation, or sale of all of the equity interests of the party, or 
a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the party to which this Agreement relates. 

 
11. Proprietary or Confidential Information 

For purposes of fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement, one party (“Disclosing Party”) 
may convey to the other party (“Receiving Party”) information that is considered proprietary and 
confidential to the Disclosing Party. 
a. “Proprietary or Confidential Information” is defined as information -- including but not 

limited to trade secrets, strategies, financial information, sales information, pricing infor-
mation, operational techniques, software, and intellectual property -- that (i) has not been 
previously published or otherwise disclosed by the Disclosing Party to the general public; 
(ii) has not previously been available to the Receiving Party or others without confidentiality 
restrictions;  (iii) reasonably would be considered confidential and proprietary notwithstand-
ing the absence of any designation; or (iv) is not normally furnished to others without com-
pensation;  and which the Disclosing Party wishes to protect against unrestricted disclo-
sure or competitive use.  In addition, the term “Proprietary or Confidential Information” 
shall also mean all information or data, regardless of whether it is in tangible form, that is 
disclosed or otherwise made available by the Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party and 
designated as “confidential” or “proprietary” by the Disclosing Party.  Such designation 
shall be clear and in writing, either before the Proprietary or Confidential Information is 
disclosed or within a reasonable time afterwards.  The term “Proprietary or Confidential 
Information” includes the original information provided by Disclosing Party as well as all 
copies. 
 

b. Proprietary or Confidential Information does not include information that, without a 
breach of this Agreement, is (i) known to the Receiving Party without restriction when re-
ceived, or thereafter developed independently by the Receiving Party; (ii) obtained by the 
Receiving Party from a source that is lawfully in possession of such information (other than 



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 4 
 
 

the Disclosing Party) through no breach of this Agreement or any other confidentiality obli-
gations; or (iii) in the public domain when received, or thereafter in the public domain 
through no fault of the Receiving Party.  

 
c. The Receiving Party shall preserve Proprietary or Confidential Information securely and in 

strict confidence, exercising no less than the same degree of care used to protect the security 
and confidentiality of its own confidential and proprietary information, and in any event no 
less than reasonable care. 

 
d. The Receiving Party shall use and disclose Proprietary or Confidential only for purposes 

of the Contracted Services. The Receiving Party shall not divulge any such Proprietary or 
Confidential Information to any employee who is not working on the Contracted Ser-
vices, without the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party. 

 
e. The Receiving Party shall not disclose the Proprietary or Confidential Information to any 

third party without prior written authorization from the Disclosing Party. 
 
f. All Proprietary or Confidential Information shall remain the property of the Disclosing Party 

notwithstanding any disclosure under this Agreement.  The Receiving Party recognizes and 
agrees that nothing contained in this Agreement nor the exchange of Proprietary or Confi-
dential Information under this Agreement shall be construed as transferring or granting any 
right, title, interest, or license under any copyrights, inventions, or patents now or hereafter 
owned or controlled by either Party.  The Disclosing Party does not grant the Receiving 
Party any express or implied right to or under the Disclosing Party or another party’s patents, 
copyrights, trademarks, trade secret information, or other proprietary rights.  The Receiving 
Party shall not make, have made, use, or sell for any purpose any product or other item us-
ing, incorporating, or derived from any Proprietary or Confidential Information of the Dis-
closing Party.  

 
g. If and to the extent that Proprietary or Confidential Information includes information that 

is confidential or proprietary to a third party, the Disclosing Party warrants that the dis-
closure does not violate any agreement with the third party or any rights of the third 
party, including any agreement or rights under the Health Insurance Portability and Ac-
countability Act (“HIPAA”) and other federal or state laws governing medical records, 
and shall indemnify the Receiving Party as to any claim against it by the third party or a 
government agency relating to such disclosure. 

 
h. Rights and obligations under this Agreement shall take precedence over specific legends or 

statements that may be associated with Proprietary or Confidential Information when re-
ceived. 

 
i. The Receiving Party shall immediately notify the Disclosing Party upon discovery of any 

loss or unauthorized disclosure of its Confidential Information. 
 
j. The Receiving Party shall not export, directly or indirectly, any U.S. technical data ac-

quired pursuant to this Agreement, or any products utilizing such data, in violation of the 
United States export laws or regulations. 



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 5 
 
 

k. If the Receiving Party is requested or required to disclose Proprietary or Confidential In-
formation pursuant to a subpoena or an order of a court or governmental agency having 
jurisdiction, the Receiving Party shall, prior to any disclosure of Proprietary or Confiden-
tial Information:  

 
i. Provide the Disclosing Party with prompt written notice of the existence, terms, 
and circumstances surrounding the legal or governmental request or requirement, 
no later than 2 business days after receiving it;  

ii. Consult with the Disclosing Party on the appropriate response to the request;  

iii. Cooperate with the Disclosing Party in its reasonable efforts to obtain an order 
or otherwise limit or restrict the disclosure of its Proprietary or Confidential Infor-
mation that is subject to the legal or governmental request or requirement, at Dis-
closing Party’s sole expense; and  

iv. Only after fully complying with the above steps, if disclosure of Proprietary or 
Confidential Information is still required, furnish only such portion of the Proprie-
tary or Confidential Information as the Receiving Party is advised by counsel is le-
gally required to be disclosed. 

j. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, each party shall cease use of Proprie-
tary or Confidential Information received from the other party.  At the written request of 
the Disclosing Party at any time during this Agreement, or within 30 days of the termina-
tion or expiration of this Agreement, the Receiving Party shall promptly return all copies 
of such information in its possession, custody, or control, promptly furnishing the Dis-
closing Party with written certification of such return.  If the Disclosing Party does not 
request the return of Proprietary or Confidential Data within 30 days of the termination or 
expiration of this Agreement, the Receiving Party shall destroy all copies of such infor-
mation in its possession, custody or control and shall, upon the Disclosing Party’s re-
quest, furnish the Disclosing Party with written certification of such destruction. If return 
or destruction is not practicable, the Receiving Party shall so notify the Disclosing Party 
and shall keep such information secure and confidential in perpetuity. 
 

k. The termination or expiration of this Agreement for any reason shall not discharge the 
obligations of the Parties with respect to the protection of Proprietary or Confidential In-
formation set forth in this section. 

 
l. Other than as set forth above, neither party makes any representation or warranty as to the 

accuracy or completeness of its Proprietary or Confidential Information disclosed under this 
Agreement. 

 
m. This Agreement and its terms shall be treated as Proprietary and Confidential Infor-

mation.   
 
12. As-Is Information and Data 

The parties agree and acknowledge that PCG will receive all information and data from PRO-
VIDER on an as-is basis. PCG is not responsible for errors or omissions in any data that it re-
ceives from PROVIDER, nor for any inaccuracies or mistakes in the survey that result from er-
rors or omissions in information received from PROVIDER. PCG is not responsible for 



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 6 
 
 

reviewing, evaluating, or verifying the accuracy or completeness of any information received by 
PROVIDER. PCG is not liable for any reimbursement, refund, or contribution should PRO-
VIDER be subject to penalties in connection with the Contracted Services. 

 
13. Intellectual Property 

Each party retains all right of interest in any work product and all intellectual property that it con-
ceives, devises, or develops in connection with the performance of the Contracted Services under 
this Agreement, or that it owned prior to execution of this Agreement, except as may be specifi-
cally assigned or transferred in a written contract. PCG guarantees that its use or creation of any 
intellectual property under this Agreement does not infringe upon the intellectual property rights 
of any third party. 
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, PCG will not deliver any working papers or other rec-
ords including those that contain outputs, code, or formulas relating to PCG’s cost reporting sys-
tem (Ambulance Services Cost Report Portal), that contain or have embedded within such records 
any PCG intellectual property or trade secrets, including all aspects concerning the methodology 
for the creation and calculations included in any cost reports.  Such materials are not considered 
PROVIDER’s property or works made for hire. 
 

14.       Conflicts of Interest 
The parties understand that PCG is not required to perform the Contracted Services on a full-time 
basis for PROVIDER and may perform services for other individuals and organizations consistent 
with the limitations in this Agreement.   
 

15. Waiver 
The failure of a party to enforce a provision of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver with 
respect to that provision or any other provision of this Agreement. 
 

16. Entire Agreement 
This Agreement (including the attachments) constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 
with respect to the subject matter of the Contracted Services, and supersedes all prior agreements 
and understandings, both written and oral. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any separate written 
agreement between the parties regarding the confidentiality and security of information ex-
changed or used by the parties for purposes of this Agreement shall be effective unless and until it 
is specifically terminated. 

 
17. Amendment 

This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the parties, signed by authorized 
representatives and referencing this Agreement. 

 
18. Severability 

If any provision in this Agreement is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remaining provisions in this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
19. Applicable Law and Venue 

This Agreement, and all other aspects of the business relationship between the parties, shall be 
construed, interpreted, and enforced under and in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts, without regard to choice of law provisions.  The parties also consent to the 



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 7 
 
 

personal jurisdiction in its courts, agree that the state and federal courts of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts shall have exclusive jurisdiction over the enforcement of this Agreement, and 
waive any objection to venue. 

 
20. Miscellaneous 

a. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, PCG DOES NOT 
MAKE ANY WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE CONTRACTED SERVICES, 
WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY IM-
PLIED WARRANTIES, WHETHER OF MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY, FIT-
NESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR OTHERWISE FOR SAID CON-
TRACTED SERVICES. 

 
b. NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER ANY INCIDENTAL, INDI-

RECT, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, 
BUT NOT LIMITED TO, SUCH DAMAGES ARISING FROM ANY TYPE OR MAN-
NER OF COMMERCIAL, BUSINESS, OR FINANCIAL LOSS, EVEN IF THE 
OTHER PARTY HAD ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE OF THE POS-
SIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES AND REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH DAM-
AGES WERE FORESEEABLE.  OTHER THAN A CLAIM BY PCG THAT CLI-
ENT HAS NOT PAID COMPENSATION UNDER SECTION 3, UNDER NO 
CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL EITHER PARTY’S AGGREGATE LIABILITY 
TO THE OTHER PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT EXCEED $35,000 IN 
THE AGGREGATE. 

 
c.  Neither party shall be responsible for delays or failures in performance resulting from 

acts of God, acts of civil or military authority, terrorism, fire, flood, strikes, war, epidem-
ics, pandemics, shortage of power, or other acts or causes reasonably beyond the control 
of that party.  The party experiencing the force majeure event agrees to give the other 
party notice promptly following the occurrence of a force majeure event, and to use dili-
gent efforts to re-commence performance as promptly as commercially practicable.  

 
d. The parties agree that the terms of this Agreement result from negotiations between them. 

This Agreement will not be construed in favor of or against either party by reason of au-
thorship. 
 

e. The captions and headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and are not in-
tended to, and shall not be construed to, limit, enlarge, or affect the scope or intent of this 
Agreement, nor the meaning of any provisions hereof. 

 
f. Each individual signing below on behalf of a party hereby represents and warrants that 

they have full power and authority to enter into this Agreement on behalf of such party.  
Each party to this Agreement hereby represents and warrants that it has full power and 
authority to enter into this Agreement, that the execution, delivery, and performance of 
this Agreement has been fully authorized and approved, and that no further approvals or 
consents are required to bind such party. 

 
  



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 8 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date written 
above. 
 
PUBLIC CONSULTING GROUP LLC  BRADFORD COUNTY FIRE RESCUE 

BY: ________________________ BY: ________________________ 

NAME: Sarah DiCicco NAME: ________________________ 

TITLE: Associate Manager TITLE: ________________________ 

DATE: September 9, 2024 DATE: ________________________ 
 

 

 

 
 
 

  



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 9 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
CONTRACTED SERVICES 

 
A. PROVIDER provided at least one Medicare ground ambulance transport in the calendar year of 

2023 is enrolled to receive Medicare payments, and received notification from CMS of its re-
quired participation in the Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Survey (the “Survey”). 
PROVIDER must comply with both U.S. Department of Health and Human Services under the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and the Health Information 
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act and as such, PCG shall comply. 

 
B. This Survey requests individual providers to submit data to CMS that relates to organizational 

characteristics, utilization, costs and revenue. The data may be used by CMS to evaluate the ade-
quacy of Medicare payment rates for ground ambulance services, to inform future Medicare rate 
changes, and possible payment system reforms.  

 
C. PCG shall be familiar with the Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Survey and all the 

rules, regulations and requirements associated with the Survey. 
 
D. PCG shall have the knowledge, skills, and ability to fully complete the required data survey to the 

Center of Medicaid and Medicare Services (CMS) within the time frame prescribed by CMS. 
 
E. PCG shall have knowledge and experience in the completion of all 13 Sections of the “Instru-

ment” Survey. 
 
F. PCG shall keep PROVIDER informed of all updates relating to the Survey. 
 
G. PCG will prepare and audit the completed Survey and its supporting documentation in accord-

ance with the Medicare principles of reimbursement that include but are not limited to 2 CFR 200 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards, and other relevant documents which provide regulatory guidance on allowable costs and 
provider charges. 

 
H. PCG will submit the final report and supporting documentation, if allowable by proxy, via the 

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) web-based portal; if not allowable, PRO-
VIDER will submit the final report and supporting documentation.  A final copy of the survey, 
work papers and methodologies for filing the Survey will be submitted to PROVIDER. 

 
I. The Contracted services that PCG will provide for the Survey will apply to one (1) National Pro-

vider Identifier (NPI) for one (1) 12-month reporting period, defined as October 1, 2023 to Sep-
tember 30, 2024, followed by a 5-month data collection/submission period commencing on Feb-
ruary 28, 2025. 

 

 

  



 

Bradford County Fire Rescue 
Medicare Ground Ambulance Data Collection Services 

 
 

 Page 10 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
COMPENSATION  

 
In consideration for the Contracted Services, PCG shall be paid $20,000. PCG will invoice PROVIDER 
within thirty (30) days of the end of the PROVIDER’s reporting period for the Medicare Ground Ambu-
lance Data Collection Survey. PROVIDER will remit payment to PCG within thirty (30) days of invoice 
receipt. 
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Retroactive Amendment to RFQ 2024-001 extending the 

deadline for submission from October 10, 2024, to October 
17, 2024, due to BOCC office closure on October 10th due to 
Hurricane Milton. 

 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: The attached Memo was released to all firms that had 

requested updates regarding this RFQ 2024-001. 
 
  



 
 

   
945 N. Temple Ave. • P.O. Drawer B • Starke, Florida 32091 

Tel. (904) 966-6327 • Fax (904) 368-3903 
www.bradfordcountyfl.gov 

  

Bradford County Manager’s Office 
Scott Kornegay, County Manager  PO Drawer B 945 North Temple Ave. 
scott_kornegay@bradfordcountyfl.gov   Starke, FL 32091 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
October 7, 2024 
 
 
RE:  RFQ 2024-001 Request for Qualifications for Professional Service 

Contracts for Engineering and/or Survey and Mapping Services 
Deadline Extension 

 
 
Due to the approach of Hurricane Milton and the preparations and 
evacuations of certain locations in Florida, the deadline for submission of 
RFQ 2024-001 will be extended. The original deadline of the RFQ was 
October 10, 2024, at 4:00 PM. This will be extended by one week. 
 
The new due date for RFQ 2024-001 is October 17, 2024, at 4:00 PM.  
 
No other changes or addenda have been issued for RFQ 2024-001. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the County Manager’s office at 
904-966-6327. 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Insight Public Sector  
 
DEPARTMENT:    BCSO 
 
PURPOSE: 100 Licenses for remote access to Smartcop Mobile Units 
 IGCF Approved 9-18-24 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): $11,574 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  
  







Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     10/17/2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Soil and Water Conservation District  
 
DEPARTMENT:    
 
PURPOSE: report and strategic planning 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): - 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #): AIDS TO GOVERNMENT AGENCIES –  

SOIL CONSERVATION AGENCY 
  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Discussion of Draft 2025 Holiday Schedule 
 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager  
 
PURPOSE: Discussion of the 2025 Holiday Schedule. Direct staff of any 

changes that need to be made. Staff will prepare a final 
schedule for approval at the next scheduled board meeting. 

 
• Board policy declares that board employees will receive eleven (11) official paid holidays. 
• Holidays falling on Saturday are observed on the preceding Friday. 
• Holidays falling on Sunday are observed on the following Monday. 



 

DRAFT HOLIDAY SCHEDULE – CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

No. Holiday Day Date Clerk  Courts BoCC 
1 New Years 

(Observed)  
Wednesday January 1, 2025 

 
X X X 

2 Martin Luther King 
Day 

Monday January 20, 2025 
 

X X X 

3 Good Friday Friday April 18, 2025 
 

X X X 

4 Memorial Day Monday May 26, 2025 
 

X X X 

 Juneteenth 
 

Thursday June 19, 2025 
 

n/a n/a ?? 

5 Independence Day  Friday  July 4, 2025 
 

X X X 

6 Labor Day Monday September 1, 2025 
 

X X X 

 Rosh Hashanah 
 

Tuesday September 23, 2025 n/a X n/a 

 Yom Kippur Thursday October 2, 2025 n/a X n/a 
 

7 Veterans Day  Tuesday November 11, 2025 
 

X X X 

8 Thanksgiving Day Thursday November 27, 2025 
 

X X X 

9 Day after 
Thanksgiving 

Friday November 28, 2025 
 

X X X 

10 Christmas Eve  
 

Wednesday December 24, 2025 X X X 

11 Christmas Day  
  

Thursday December 25, 2025 X X X 

 
 

Day After Christmas Friday  December 26, 2025 ?? X ?? 

 

X = Scheduled Holiday  

Included for informational purposes:  

• The Eighth Judicial Circuit Court “courts” schedule is included for informational purposes only. 
• The Office of the Clerk of Court must remain open when the courts are open, unless approved 

by the Chief Judge to close.  
• Per board personnel policy: 

- The board declares 11 official paid holidays (as noted above). 
- Holidays falling on Saturday are observed on the preceding Friday.  
- Holidays falling on Sunday are observed on the following Monday.  
   



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     October 17, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Discussion of Board Meeting Dates for Calendar Year 2025 
 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: Discussion of the 2025 BoCC meeting dates. Direct staff of 

any changes that need to be made. Staff will prepare a final 
schedule for approval at the next scheduled board meeting.  

 
 *Suggested deviations are marked (*) and highlighted Yellow 

with an explanation following the suggested dates.  
 
 



Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 
2025 Meeting Dates 

BoCC Approved __________ 
January 7, 2025 
 
January 16, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
February 4, 2025 
 
February 20, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
March 4, 2025 
 
March 18, 2025 *1 

Tuesday 
 
Tuesday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
April 1, 2025 
 
April 17, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
May 6, 2025 
 
May 15, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
June 4, 2025 
 
June 19, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
July 1, 2025 
 
July 17, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
August 5, 2025 
 
August 21, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
September 2, 2025 
 
September 25, 2025 *2 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
October 7, 2025 
 
October 16, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
November 4, 2025 
 
November 18, 2025 *3 

Tuesday 
 
Tuesday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 

   
December 2, 2025 
 
December 18, 2025 

Tuesday 
 
Thursday 

9:30 AM 
 
6:30 PM 



Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 
2025 Meeting Dates 

BoCC Approved __________ 

  
 
Reason for Suggested Schedule Deviation: 

1. Rural Counties Day – March 19-20, 2025 
2. Innovation and Policy Conference – September 17-18, 2025 
3. Legislative Conference – November 19-21, 2025 

 


	10-17-24 Agenda.pdf
	Z24-07 Keystone Heights Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS Z 24-07 Keystoen Heights RV Resort info
	Z_24-07_REV_ORD

	Z24-08 Hernandez Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS Z 24-08 Lizeth Hernandez 10-17-2024
	Z_24-08_REV_ORD

	Z 24-09 Boubacar Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS Z 24-09 Hassane Boubaqcar
	Z_24-09_REV_ORD

	S240820A Keystone RV Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS S240820A Keystone Heights RV Resort LLC info

	S240828A Hernandez Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS S240828A Lizeth Hernandez 10-17-2024 
	S240828A_REV_ORD

	S240913A Boubacar Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS S240913A Hassane Boubacar

	9-3-24 Budget Hearing Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - 9-3 Tent. Budget Meeting Minutes
	Minutes - 9-3-23 Tentative Millage and Budget

	9-3-24 Regular Meeting Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - 9-3 Reg. Meeting Minutes
	DRAFT 9-3-2024 BoCC Reg. Meeting Minutes

	9-10-24 Budget Workshop Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - 9-10 Budget Works Minutes
	DRAFT 9-10-2024 BoCC Budget Workshop Minutes

	9-17-24 Budget Hearing Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - 9-17 Budget Hearing Minutes - Final 
	Minutes - 9-17-23 Final Millage and Budget

	9-17-24 Regular Meeting Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - 9-17 Reg. Meeting Minutes
	9-17-2024 BoCC Reg. Meeting Minutes

	HCA Agreement Termination Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - HCA Interfacility Agreement Termination  
	HCA Agreement Termination - On Letterhead

	BCFR COPCN Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Retro BCFR COPCN_
	2024-2026 BCFR COPCN

	Library State Aid Grant App Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS Cert Grant Agreement Library
	FY25 BCPL StateAidToLibrariesGrantAgreement

	Library Cert for Grant Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS Cert Hours Library
	Cert Local Exp BCPL FY25
	FY25 BCPL CertificationofHours-5

	Resolution for LSE Helene 1 Full packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Helene LSE RESOLUTION 2024
	LSE 9-24-24

	Resolution for LSE Helene 2 Ex Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Helene Extension 1 LSE Resolution 2024
	LSE Extension 10-1-24

	Resolution LSE Helene 2 Extension Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Helene Extension 2 LSE Resolution 2024
	LSE Extention 2 Helene

	Resolution LSE Milton Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Milton LSE RESOLUTION 2024
	LSE Milton

	Medicare Cost Survey PCG Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - MGADCS
	Bradford County SOW Tier III_02.2023
	Bradford County_Medicare Cost Survey_Contract Tier III_

	RFQ 2024-001 Date Change Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	MEMO - RFQ 2024-001 Due Date Extension

	Insight Public Sector Inv Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	doc00854620240924125040

	2025 Holidays Draft Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	DRAFT - 2025 HOLIDAY SCHEDULE 

	2025 Meeting Dates Draft Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	2025 BoCC Meeting Dates DRAFT




